# A ANNUAL REVIEWS

# Annual Review of Nutrition Nutritional and Metabolic Control of Ferroptosis

# Eikan Mishima<sup>1,2</sup> and Marcus Conrad<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Institute of Metabolism and Cell Death, Helmholtz Zentrum München, Neuherberg, Germany; email: marcus.conrad@helmholtz-muenchen.de

<sup>2</sup>Division of Nephrology, Endocrinology and Vascular Medicine, Tohoku University Graduate School of Medicine, Sendai, Japan

Annu. Rev. Nutr. 2022. 42:275-309

First published as a Review in Advance on June 1, 2022

The Annual Review of Nutrition is online at nutr.annualreviews.org

https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-nutr-062320-114541

Copyright © 2022 by Annual Reviews. All rights reserved

# ANNUAL CONNECT

- www.annualreviews.org
- Download figures
- Navigate cited references
- Keyword search
- Explore related articles
- Share via email or social media

# Keywords

regulated necrotic cell death, GPX4, FSP1, PUFA, coenzyme Q<sub>10</sub>, lipid peroxidation

#### Abstract

Ferroptosis is a type of regulated cell death characterized by an excessive lipid peroxidation of cellular membranes caused by the disruption of the antioxidant defense system and/or an imbalanced cellular metabolism. Ferroptosis differentiates from other forms of regulated cell death in that several metabolic pathways and nutritional aspects, including endogenous antioxidants (such as coenzyme Q<sub>10</sub>, vitamin E, and di/tetrahydrobiopterin), iron handling, energy sensing, selenium utilization, amino acids, and fatty acids, directly regulate the cells' sensitivity to lipid peroxidation and ferroptosis. As hallmarks of ferroptosis have been documented in a variety of diseases, including neurodegeneration, acute organ injury, and therapyresistant tumors, the modulation of ferroptosis using pharmacological tools or by metabolic reprogramming holds great potential for the treatment of ferroptosis-associated diseases and cancer therapy. Hence, this review focuses on the regulation of ferroptosis by metabolic and nutritional cues and discusses the potential of nutritional interventions for therapy by targeting ferroptosis.

### Contents

1.	HISTORICAL VIEW OF FERROPTOSIS: BEFORE AND AFTER	
	THE COINING OF THE TERM FERROPTOSIS	276
2.	CYST(E)INE/GSH/GPX4: A CENTRAL AXIS MODULATING	
	FERROPTOSIS	278
	2.1. Cysteine and GSH	278
	2.2. GPX4	280
3.	NUTRITIONAL SUPPRESSORS OF FERROPTOSIS	281
	3.1. Selenium	281
	3.2. Vitamin E	282
	3.3. Coenzyme Q <sub>10</sub> and Its Reducing Systems FSP1 and DHODH	282
	3.4. Squalene and 7-DHC	283
	3.5. GCH1-BH <sub>4</sub> -DHFR Axis	283
	3.6. Gas Transmitters: NO and H <sub>2</sub> S	283
4.	METABOLITES DRIVING FERROPTOSIS	284
	4.1. Fatty Acid Metabolism: The Balance Between PUFAs and MUFAs	284
	4.2. Peroxisome and Plasmalogens	286
	4.3. Contribution of Enzymatic Lipid Peroxidation Pathway to Ferroptosis	287
	4.4. Iron Handling in Ferroptosis	287
5.	METABOLIC MODULATION OF FERROPTOSIS	289
	5.1. Amino Acids as Proferroptotic Nutrients	289
	5.2. Glucose	290
	5.3. NADPH	290
	5.4. mTORC1	291
	5.5. NRF2: Antioxidant Response	291
	5.6. Hippo-YAP Signaling	292
	5.7. Thermal Stress in Ferroptosis: Heat and Cold Stress	292
6.	SUPPRESSION AND INDUCTION OF FERROPTOSIS	293
	6.1. Suppressors of Ferroptosis	293
	6.2. Inducers of Ferroptosis	293
7.	POTENTIAL PHYSIOLOGICAL ROLE OF FERROPTOSIS	294
8.	IMPLICATIONS OF FERROPTOSIS IN DISEASE	295
	8.1. Ferroptosis Sensitivity in Cancer	295
	8.2. Ferroptosis in Ischemia-Reperfusion Injury	296
	8.3. Role of Ferroptosis in Neurodegenerative Disease	297
	8.4. COVID-19 and Ferroptosis	298
9.	CONCLUSION AND FUTURE PERSPECTIVE	298

# 1. HISTORICAL VIEW OF FERROPTOSIS: BEFORE AND AFTER THE COINING OF THE TERM FERROPTOSIS

Cell death is an essential process for diverse aspects of the life of multicellular organisms including embryogenesis, tissue homeostasis, and disease development. Moreover, it is intricately intertwined with various other critical biological processes such as immune response and metabolic signaling. In striking contrast with accidental cell death—a biologically uncontrolled demise of cells exposed to lethal physical, chemical, or mechanical stressors-regulated cell death, including apoptosis, necroptosis, and pyroptosis, is executed by stringently regulated and highly structured signaling cascades, as well as defined molecular effector mechanisms (70). Ferroptosis is a type of nonapoptotic regulated cell death characterized by an iron-dependent, excessive (phospho)lipid peroxidation that is caused by a severely perturbed antioxidant defense system and an aberrant cellular metabolism. Ferroptosis can be suppressed by blocking lipid peroxidation directly or indirectly via pharmacological or genetic means (51). Emerging evidence implicates ferroptosis in various pathologies, including acute organ injury and neurodegenerative diseases, as well as in promoting tumor suppression (98). Therefore, pharmacological modulation of ferroptosis through its induction or inhibition holds great potential for the treatment of ferroptosis-associated diseases and therapy for certain cancer states that are linked to an increased sensitivity to lipid peroxidation (98). Although originally studied in mammalian systems (51), ferroptosis-like cell death has also been observed in evolutionarily more remote species, such as plants, protozoa, and fungi (20, 50, 169). Meanwhile, ferroptosis is increasingly being recognized as one of the most widespread and earliest observed forms of cell death. Ferroptosis is impacted by numerous cellular nutrients and metabolic processes, including endogenous antioxidants [such as coenzyme  $O_{10}$  (Co $O_{10}$ ), vitamin E, and di/tetrahydrobiopterin], iron handling, selenium utilization, and metabolism of amino acids, lipids, and glucose, and also is subject to a number of signaling pathways.

Although the term ferroptosis was coined only quite recently in 2012 as a nonapoptotic form of cell death marked by impaired cystine (the oxidized dimeric form of cysteine) uptake into cells, glutathione (GSH) depletion, and iron-dependent lipid peroxidation (51), ferroptosis-like features and forms of cell death that strongly resemble ferroptosis were documented long before the term was introduced. Such observations include a type of oxidative-stress-induced cell death in neuronal cells termed oxytosis (86, 183). Even earlier, during the 1950s and 1960s, Harry Eagle demonstrated that cysteine deprivation induces cell death (57) and that endogenous synthesis of cysteine can render cells resistant to cysteine-deprivation-induced cell death (58). Now we know that the availability of cysteine is the rate-limiting step in the biosynthesis of GSH, the most abundant reductant in mammalian cells. In the 1970s, investigators found that cystine starvation induces cellular GSH starvation and the accumulation of reactive oxygen species (ROS), efficiently causing cell death (11). Notably, this type of cell death could be rescued by the addition of lipophilic antioxidants, such as vitamin E, without restoring GSH levels (11). In the 1980s, glutathione peroxidase 4 (GPX4), which is nowadays considered as the master regulator of ferroptosis due to its role in eliminating toxic lipid hydroperoxides directly in lipid bilayers, was isolated and purified (195). GPX4 was first described as a peroxidation-inhibiting protein, and several lines of evidence support the unique role of GPX4 in protecting cells against the lethal effects of lipid peroxidation and oxidative stress (23, 185, 194). In the 2000s, an understanding of lipid peroxidation-dependent nonapoptotic cell death caused by the inducible loss of GPX4 in genetically engineered mouse embryonic fibroblasts (164) as well as in hippocampal neurons was achieved and identified as a yet-unrecognized distinct nonapoptotic cell death modality. Through the detailed characterization of the lethal mechanisms of erastin and (1S, 3R)-RSL3 (RSL3), which were previously identified by small molecule screening to induce a similar form of nonapoptotic cell death (51, 218), the term ferroptosis was eventually coined in 2012 (51). On the mechanistic level, studies have shown that erastin and RSL3 trigger this iron-dependent cell death modality by inhibiting cystine import and GPX4, respectively, and established that the cyst(e)ine/GSH/GPX4 axis is the prime defense system against ferroptosis.

During the following decade, several metabolic and nutritional processes were identified as regulators of ferroptosis. Through the discovery of the role of the cyst(e)ine/GSH/GPX4



#### Figure 1

An overview of ferroptosis regulation by nutrients and metabolic pathway/signaling. Abbreviations: AMPK, AMP-activated protein kinase; BH<sub>4</sub>, tetrahydrobiopterin; CoQ<sub>10</sub>, coenzyme Q<sub>10</sub>; mTORC1, mammalian target of rapamycin complex 1; NRF2, nuclear factor erythroid 2-related factor 2; PPP, pentose phosphate pathway; PUFA, polyunsaturated fatty acid; TCA, tricarboxylic acid; YAP, Yes-associated protein.

pathway in suppressing ferroptosis, the role of phospholipid hydroperoxides (PLOOHs)—a type of lipid-based ROS—as the executioners of ferroptosis have been firmly established. More recently, other ferroptosis surveillance pathways such as ferroptosis suppressor protein 1 (FSP1), GTP cyclohydrolase 1 (GCH1), and dihydroorotate dehydrogenase (DHODH) have been identified (16, 54, 107, 135). Furthermore, the mechanisms of PLOOH synthesis, particularly the synthesis and activation of polyunsaturated fatty acids (PUFAs), the precursor of PLOOHs, have been extensively investigated in the context of ferroptosis. Importantly, all of these studies converge on cellular metabolism and nutrient signaling and suggest a close link between ferroptosis and metabolic processes. Here, we provide a comprehensive review of the regulatory mechanisms of ferroptosis, with special focus on the cellular nutritional and metabolic aspects impacting ferroptosis sensitivity (**Figure 1**).

# 2. CYST(E)INE/GSH/GPX4: A CENTRAL AXIS MODULATING FERROPTOSIS

#### 2.1. Cysteine and GSH

The hallmark of ferroptosis is the excessive and uncontrolled occurrence of cellular PLOOHs, which can be induced by disrupting the glutathione-dependent and glutathione-independent antioxidant defense systems. The discovery of the importance of sufficient cystine supply via the cystine/glutamate transporter (i.e., system  $x_c^-$ ), and GSH synthesis for the optimal functioning of GPX4 to prevent lipid peroxidation, established that the cyst(e)ine/GSH/GPX4 axis is the core defense system suppressing ferroptosis (**Figure 2***a*).

The amino acid cysteine and its oxidized dimeric form cystine are crucial to maintain cellular redox homeostasis, mainly through their role in the biosynthesis of GSH, for which cysteine is the rate-limiting substrate. System  $x_c^-$  is a heterodimeric plasma membrane cystine/glutamate antiporter that is composed of the transporter protein SLC7A11 (xCT) and transmembrane regulatory protein SLC3A2 (160). Most cellular cystine is imported through system  $x_c^-$ , which exchanges extracellular cystine for intracellular glutamate, while some de novo cysteine biosynthesis can occur through the transsulfuration pathway from methionine (83). Imported cystine is converted to its reduced form cysteine via GSH-mediated or thioredoxin reductase 1 (TXNRD1)–mediated reduction (134), which is then used for GSH biosynthesis through the enzymatic machinery including  $\gamma$ -glutamylcysteine synthetase ( $\gamma$ -GCS) and glutathione synthetase (129). GSH is the principal reductant in mammalian cells and is the preferred substrate required for full GPX4 activity. Thus, the depletion of GSH directly leads to the loss of GPX4



(Caption appears on following page)

#### Figure 2 (Figure appears on preceding page)

Major ferroptosis-suppressing pathways. (a) Cyst(e)ine/GSH/GPX4 axis. Cystine, taken up via system xc<sup>-</sup>, is reduced to cysteine by GSH or TXNRD1. GSH is synthesized from cysteine through two consecutive reactions involving y-GC and GSS. GSH is used for the GPX4-mediated reduction of PLOOHs, yielding the corresponding PLOH. Oxidized GSH (GSSG) is recycled by GSR, consuming electrons provided by NADPH. To some extent, cysteine can be provided through the transsulfuration pathway using Met as the substrate. Erastin, BSO, RSL3, and ML210 induce ferroptosis by blocking the step as indicated. RTAs include α-TOH, Fer-1, and Lip-1. (b) FSP1- and DHODH-mediated CoQ10-reducing pathways. FSP1, anchored via an N-terminal myristoylation tag in lipid bilayers, suppresses ferroptosis in a glutathione-independent manner by reducing ubiquinone (CoQ<sub>10</sub>) to ubiquinol (CoQ<sub>10</sub>-H<sub>2</sub>). CoQ10-H2 in turn suppresses phospholipid peroxidation of lipid bilayers by inhibition of lipid radical-mediated autoxidation, initiated by PLOO<sup>•</sup> and PLO<sup>•</sup>. Located in the mitochondrial inner membrane, DHODH oxidizes DHO to orotate, thereby transferring electrons to  $CoQ_{10}$ , yielding  $CoQ_{10}$ -H<sub>2</sub>. (c) Antiferroptotic metabolites produced in the mevalonate/cholesterol synthesis pathway. CoQ<sub>10</sub>, squalene, and 7-DHC play roles in blocking phospholipid peroxidation. (d) GCH-BH<sub>4</sub> pathway. BH<sub>4</sub>, generated by the GCH1 pathway, is an endogenous RTA that protects lipid membranes from autoxidation, alone or in synergy with α-TOH. DHFR catalyzes the regeneration of BH4 from BH2, whereas inhibition of DHFR by methotrexate sensitizes cells toward ferroptosis. Abbreviations: 7-DHC, 7-dehydrocholesterol;  $\alpha$ -TOH,  $\alpha$ -tocopherol;  $\gamma$ -GC,  $\gamma$ -glutamylcysteine;  $\gamma$ -GCS,  $\gamma$ -glutamylcysteine synthetase; BH<sub>2</sub>, dihydrobiopterin; BH4, tetrahydrobiopterin; BSO, L-buthionine sulfoximine; CoQ10, coenzyme Q10; DHCR7, 7-dehydrocholesterol reductase; DHFR, dihydrofolate reductase; DHO, dihydroorotate; DHODH, dihydroorotate dehydrogenase; Fer-1, ferrostatin-1; FMN, flavin mononucleotide; FMN-H<sub>2</sub>, reduced flavin mononucleotide; FSP1, ferroptosis suppressor protein 1; GCH1, GTP cyclohydrolase 1; GPX4, glutathione peroxidase 4; GSH, glutathione; GSS, glutathione synthetase; GSSG, glutathione disulfide; GSR, glutathione-disulfide reductase; GTP, guanosine triphosphate; Hcy, homocysteine; HMG-CoA, 3-hydroxy-3-methylglutaryl coenzyme A; IPP, isopentenyl pyrophosphate; Lip-1, liproxstatin-1; Met, methionine; NADPH, nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate; PLO•, phospholipid alkoxyl radical; PLOH, phospholipid alcohol; PLOO•, phospholipid peroxyl radical; PLOOH, phospholipid hydroperoxide; PUFA, polyunsaturated fatty acid; RSL3, (1S,3R)-RSL3; RTA, radical-trapping antioxidant; Se, selenium; TXNRD1, thioredoxin reductase 1. Figure adapted from images created with BioRender.com.

activity, thereby rendering the cells more susceptible to ferroptosis. Moreover, the reductive microenvironment that is maintained by the system  $x_c^-$  is required for cellular selenium uptake and the biosynthesis of GPX4 (150). Erastin, an inhibitor of the system  $x_c^-$ , irreversibly blocks cystine import (161), leading to GSH depletion and consequently inducing ferroptosis (51). The lethal effect of erastin can be reversed by  $\beta$ -mercaptoethanol, which bypasses the need for system  $x_c^-$  by forming mixed disulfides with cystine that can be imported into the cell by a different transporter (94). Thereby, it also releases one molecule of extracellular cysteine, which can be taken up by neutral amino acid transporters.

#### 2.2. GPX4

GPX4 is the only major enzyme catalyzing the reduction of potentially toxic PLOOHs (195) to nontoxic phospholipid alcohols (PLOHs)—therefore, GPX4 is considered as the guardian of ferroptosis (**Figure 2***a*). The reduction of PLOOH to PLOH by GPX4 requires two electrons, which are provided by GSH, or even by cysteine and other low molecular thiol–containing compounds, and also by protein thiols, particularly when GSH levels are low (133). Currently, pharmaceutical inhibition and genetic knockout of *GPX4* are used as the classic approaches to trigger ferroptosis in cells and mice. Due to its high reactivity toward selenocysteine residues, RSL3 inhibits most selenoproteins including GPX4 and induces ferroptosis by causing the accumulation of PLOOHs, leading to unrepairable damage of membranes, and by releasing toxic lipid peroxidation by-products such as aldehydes (67, 164). The global knockout of *Gpx4* in mice causes early embryonic lethality (219). Tamoxifen-induced *Gpx4* deletion in the whole body, except the brain, causes acute kidney injury and associated lethality, indicating a *Gpx4*-regulated ferroptotic machinery in the kidney proximal tubule (68). The conditional knockout of *Gpx4* in neurons or forebrain neurons leads to neurodegeneration and behavioral dysfunction (34, 164, 207). Many other cell types are also affected by *Gpx4* conditional knockouts that cause cell death

or functional defects in target organs, including  $CD4^+$  and  $CD8^+$  T cells (137), endothelial cells (209), hematopoietic cells (28), photoreceptor cells (192), and spermatogonia (39). In humans, loss-of-function mutations in the *GPX4* gene cause Sedaghatian-type spondylometaphyseal dysplasia, which is a lethal autosomal recessive disorder that is characterized mainly by skeletal dysplasia combined with cardiac and brain anomalies (172); however, the involvement of lipid peroxidation and ferroptosis in its pathophysiology remains unclear.

#### 3. NUTRITIONAL SUPPRESSORS OF FERROPTOSIS

Biological processes that modulate ferroptosis-promoting or -inhibiting molecules, redox and iron homeostasis, and cellular metabolism can affect ferroptosis. Several metabolites and nutrients have been reported to regulate lipid peroxidation and ferroptosis. Thus far, the effects of nutrients and metabolites that are associated with ferroptosis regulation are classified into the following three categories: (*a*) suppressors and drivers of ferroptosis [e.g., selenium, vitamin E,  $CoQ_{10}$ , iron, di/tetrahydrobiopterin, squalene, 7-dehydrocholesterol (7-DHC), and amino acids]; (*b*) fatty acid composition in phospholipids [e.g., PUFAs and monounsaturated fatty acids (MUFAs)]; and (*c*) regulation of ferroptosis pathways.

#### 3.1. Selenium

The trace element selenium, discovered in 1817 and named after the goddess of the moon Selene, is a critical component of selenoproteins, a small and unique family of proteins, including GPX4. Selenoproteins are characterized by the presence of the rare amino acid selenocysteine (Sec) in their polypeptide chain. In the early 1950s, researchers reported the suppression of lipid peroxidation by selenium as well as cysteine (17) and the tissue-protective effect of selenium supplementation in a rat model of liver necrosis based on vitamin E deficiency (now considered as ferroptosis) (163). As GPX4 is one of 25 selenoproteins in humans (109), its biosynthesis and expression are regulated by cellular selenium availability and cotranslational incorporation of Sec (42, 92). Selenium supplementation leads to increased GPX4 expression and subsequent resistance to ferroptosis. Sodium selenite supplementation in the culture medium upregulates GPX4 expression in cultured cells (164), and brain-penetrant selenopeptide administration drives GPX4 expression, which protects against tissue damage in a mouse model with intracerebral hemorrhage (3). The essential role of Sec in GPX4 was recently reported by demonstrating that mice containing cysteine in place of Sec in a GPX4 active site are highly susceptible to hydroperoxide-induced ferroptosis due to irreversible peroxide-mediated overoxidation of the active site cysteine (92). Homozygous Gpx4-cysteine mutant mice die near the preweaning stage because of the development of epileptic seizures that are associated with the loss of a critical population of cortical inhibitory interneurons (92). Tamoxifen-inducible Gpx4-cysteine-expressing mutant mice are highly sensitized to tubular ferroptosis in kidneys in response to transient ischemia/reperfusion injury (IRI) (187). These findings reveal a specific and indispensable role of selenium in suppressing ferroptosis induced by hydroperoxides. The synthesis and incorporation of Sec in proteins requires a complex machinery (42), suggesting that the genes that are related to the machinery may affect expression of functional GPX4 and ferroptosis. Disruption of selenium incorporation by knockout of the Sec-tRNA gene, which is a specific transfer RNA for Sec incorporation, leads to embryonic death in mice at almost the same stage as that of Gpx4 knockout mice (22). In a genome-wide CRISPR screening of human-induced pluripotent stem cell-derived neurons, genes responsible for Sec incorporation into proteins (including PSTK, SEPHS2, and SEPSECS) as well as GPX4 were identified as essential for neurons to survive under proferroptotic oxidative stress (186).

#### 3.2. Vitamin E

Vitamin E is nature's most potent lipophilic radical-trapping antioxidant (RTA) that protects against detrimental lipid peroxidation and ferroptosis (40, 93). Vitamin E scavenges lipid peroxyl radicals to disrupt the propagation phase by forming a vitamin E radical. Dietary vitamin E comprises eight natural forms:  $\alpha$ -,  $\beta$ -,  $\gamma$ -, and  $\delta$ -tocopherol and  $\alpha$ -,  $\beta$ -,  $\gamma$ -, and  $\delta$ -tocotrienol, all of which break the autoxidation chain reaction. Supplementation with vitamin E is an effective way to prevent ferroptosis and related diseases, at least in animal models. Vitamin E has been repeatedly shown to rescue certain tissues, including liver, endothelium, and cells such as CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells and hematopoietic stem cells, from the deleterious consequences that are induced by tissuespecific disruption of GPX4 (4, 31, 137, 209). In some cells, GSH and thioredoxin systems maintain endogenous  $\alpha$ -tocopherol in a reduced state and prevent lipid peroxidation (138).  $\alpha$ -Tocopherol hydroquinone, the reduced form of  $\alpha$ -tocopherol, has been reported as the most powerful naturally occurring inhibitor of ferroptosis (85); this implication is also highlighted by the fact that sustained vitamin E deficiency causes neurodegeneration (193). The neurological phenotype of vitamin E deficiency is similar to Friedreich's ataxia, which is a genetic neurological disorder whose pathogenesis is reported to be linked to ferroptosis (111), suggesting that endogenous vitamin E exerts a powerful preventive role against neuronal ferroptosis.

#### 3.3. Coenzyme Q<sub>10</sub> and Its Reducing Systems FSP1 and DHODH

 $CoQ_{10}$ , also known as ubiquinone, is an endogenously produced lipophilic antioxidant that has been shown to prevent the harmful oxidation of lipids and proteins (202). In mitochondria,  $CoQ_{10}$ is essential for electron transfer through the electron transport chain, thereby maintaining the mitochondrial membrane potential and promoting ATP synthesis. However,  $CoQ_{10}$  not only resides in mitochondria but is also present elsewhere in the cell in almost all of the lipid membranes hence its name ubiquinone (202). The precise role of extramitochondrial  $CoQ_{10}$  remained unclear for many decades after its discovery. Independent genome-wide screens have helped to discover the cell-intrinsic pathways that protect against ferroptosis and revealed that the extramitochondrial  $CoQ_{10}$  antioxidant system serves as a robust ferroptosis surveillance mechanism (**Figure 2***b*).

This GPX4-independent ferroptosis suppression mechanism involves FSP1, previously called AIFM2 (16, 54), which mainly localizes in cell membrane structures, including the plasma membrane, Golgi apparatus, and lipid droplets. FSP1 suppresses lipid peroxidation and ferroptosis through its NAD(P)H:ubiquinone oxidoreductase activity (60). By consuming NAD(P)H, FSP1 reduces extramitochondrial ubiquinone (CoQ<sub>10</sub>) to its reduced form ubiquinol (CoQ<sub>10</sub>-H<sub>2</sub>), which acts as a lipophilic RTA to directly reduce lipid radicals in membranes or indirectly by regenerating oxidized  $\alpha$ -tocopheroxyl radicals (**Figure 2b**). This protective role elucidates the long-standing mystery of why some cells and tissues indeed contain a large pool of extramitochondrial CoQ<sub>10</sub>. Additional studies demonstrated that the loss of this defense system by *FSP1* deletion impaired the growth of tumors lacking GPX4 expression (16) and exacerbated kidney damage following ischemia/reperfusion (187). FSP1 belongs to the family of type II NADH:quinone oxidoreductases and catalyzes the two-electron transfer from NAD(P)H to quinones without any energy-generating site; this catalyzation is the same reaction as mitochondrial complex I but without proton pumping (140). Perhaps this is analogous to the role of FSP1 in brown adipose tissue, where it is implicated in cold- and diet-induced thermogenesis (148).

In addition to FSP1, DHODH has recently been reported as a defense mechanism against ferroptosis related to  $CoQ_{10}$  reduction (135) (**Figure** *2b*). DHODH is an iron-containing flavin-dependent enzyme that plays an essential role in the de novo synthesis of pyrimidines by catalyzing

the oxidation of dihydroorotate to orotate; orotate is then converted to uridine monophosphate, the RNA nucleotide involved in ribosome biogenesis (61). In the mitochondrial inner membrane, DHODH inhibits ferroptosis by reducing ubiquinone to ubiquinol, which is ultimately coupled with the oxidation of dihydroorotate to orotate to detoxify lipid peroxides that accumulate in the mitochondria. While inhibition of DHODH alone does not induce ferroptosis, it was shown to markedly sensitize cells to ferroptosis (135).

The identification of FSP1 and DHODH as suppressors of ferroptosis suggests that increased  $CoQ_{10}$  synthesis might efficiently protect cells from ferroptosis. In this regard, the mevalonate pathway, in which  $CoQ_{10}$ , cholesterol, 7-DHC, squalene, and isopentenyl pyrophosphate (IPP) are generated, also affects ferroptosis. The ferroptosis inducer FIN56 deprives  $CoQ_{10}$  in cells (171). Statins, inhibitors of the mevalonate pathway and commonly used as cholesterol-lowering drugs, have been shown to sensitize cells to ferroptosis (196). In addition, IPP, the precursor of  $CoQ_{10}$ , is a limiting substrate for the enzymatic isopentenylation of Sec-tRNA (66), which is essential for the incorporation of Sec.

#### 3.4. Squalene and 7-DHC

Among the metabolites of the cholesterol synthesis pathway, squalene and 7-DHC have been reported to exert antiferroptotic activity (**Figure 2***c*). Squalene, a lipophilic metabolite accumulating in cell membranes and lipid droplets, has antioxidant activity, and thereby protects against ferroptosis (75). Accumulation of squalene by genetic deletion of squalene monooxygenase, catalyzing the oxidation of squalene to 2,3-oxidosqualene in the cholesterol synthesis pathway, leads to ferroptosis resistance in cancer cells. Most recently, 7-DHC was reported as a new player as a cell-intrinsic mechanism for suppressing ferroptosis (67). 7-DHC is a precursor of cholesterol and found in abundant quantities in the epidermis. 7-DHC, due to its superior reactivity toward peroxyl radicals, shields phospholipids from autoxidation by acting as a potent radical sink. Intracellular accumulation of 7-DHC to cholesterol, lowered the basal sensitivity of cells toward ferroptosis in cancer cells (67), thus constituting a potential cell-intrinsic mechanism to evade cancer cell death.

#### 3.5. GCH1-BH<sub>4</sub>-DHFR Axis

GCH1, the rate-limiting enzyme for tetrahydrobiopterin (BH<sub>4</sub>) synthesis, has been reported to inhibit ferroptosis independent of GPX4 via its metabolic products BH<sub>4</sub> and dihydrobiopterin (BH<sub>2</sub>) (**Figure 2***d*) (107, 176). BH<sub>4</sub> and BH<sub>2</sub> act as endogenous RTAs and are regenerated by dihydrofolate reductase (DHFR). In addition to its role as an RTA, BH<sub>4</sub> may promote the synthesis of CoQ<sub>10</sub> by converting phenylalanine into tyrosine, which can be further converted to 4-OH-benzoate, a precursor of CoQ<sub>10</sub> (107).

# 3.6. Gas Transmitters: NO and H<sub>2</sub>S

Nitrogen oxide (NO) is a highly reactive gaseous radical mediator with antioxidant properties that terminates lipid peroxidation reactions and was recently reported to exert a cytoprotective action against ferroptotic stimuli (87). Accordingly, NO donor compounds protect against ferroptosis by aborting the lipid peroxidation chain reaction (87), and expression of inducible nitric oxide synthase was reported to modulate ferroptosis susceptibility (102). Hydrogen sulfide (H<sub>2</sub>S), a gas transmitter widely present in various tissues and organs, regulates oxidative stress and also suppresses ferroptosis (105, 204).

#### 4. METABOLITES DRIVING FERROPTOSIS

#### 4.1. Fatty Acid Metabolism: The Balance Between PUFAs and MUFAs

The unrestrained generation of PUFA-containing phospholipid peroxides in cellular membranes is the ultimate trigger for ferroptosis (2). Unlike saturated fatty acids and MUFAs, PUFA chains in membrane lipids are far more susceptible to lipid oxidation. Lipid peroxidation is initiated by the removal of a bisallylic hydrogen atom from PUFAs incorporated in phospholipids that constitute membrane lipid bilayers. Hydrogen atom abstraction leads to the formation of a carbon-centered phospholipid radical ( $PL^{\bullet}$ ). In a subsequent reaction with molecular oxygen, a phospholipid peroxyl radical (PLOO $\bullet$ ) is formed (40), which in turn removes hydrogen from another PUFA to form PLOOHs. If not reduced to the corresponding PLOH by GPX4, lipid-derived radicals-in particular, PLOO•-react with PUFA phospholipids (PUFA-PLs) to trigger the lipid peroxidation chain reaction by further abstracting hydrogen atoms, reacting with oxygen and the formation of PLOOHs. Eventually, this leads to the generation of a variety of secondary lipid peroxidation products, including 4-hydroxynonenal and malondialdehyde, that will oxidize and modify proteins. The extensive oxidation of phospholipid radicals and the generation of lipid peroxidation breakdown products may eventually damage membrane integrity, ultimately rupturing cell membranes (67). Thus, membranes containing high levels of PUFA-PL are generally vulnerable to lipid peroxidation and ferroptosis (98).

PUFAs in mammalian cells are obtained from dietary essential fatty acids or the product of the orchestrated action of desaturases and elongases (**Figure 3***a*). Fatty acids, including PUFAs, are acylated with coenzyme A (CoA) by their respective acyl-CoA synthetase long-chain family member (ACSL) to form fatty acid–CoA, which is subsequently esterified into phospholipids by lysophospholipid acyltransferase (131). Fatty acids of phospholipids are liberated by phospholipase A<sub>2</sub> (PLA<sub>2</sub>) to yield free fatty acids and lysophospholipids (lyso-PLs). Lyso-PLs are converted to phospholipids in the presence of fatty acid–CoA in the remodeling pathway. This biosynthesis and remodeling of phospholipids modulate the composition of the lipid profile in the cell membrane (**Figure 3***a*).

Phosphatidylethanolamines (PEs) bearing arachidonic acid (C20:4) and adrenic acid (C22:4) were initially identified as the main substrates for lipid peroxidation in the context of ferroptosis (100), although more recent data suggest that a wide range of PUFAs can be involved (54). Genome-wide genetic screens identified ACSL4 as a central regulator of cell sensitivity to ferroptosis (52, 55). ACSL4 preferentially ligates long-chain PUFAs, including arachidonic acid and adrenic acid, with CoA. These products can then be re-esterified and incorporated into phospholipids by lysophosphatidylcholine acyltransferase 3 (LPCAT3), thereby increasing the incorporation of long-chain PUFAs into lipids and membranes, increasing the risk of lipid peroxidation (**Figure 3b**). Thus, the loss of ACSL4 causes a shift from long-chain PUFA tails to MUFA tails in phospholipids (55, 100), rendering ACSL4-deficient cells highly resistant to ferroptosis. Similarly, the pharmacological blocking of ACSL4 by rosiglitazone or other thiazolidinediones has been shown to prevent lipid peroxidation and ferroptosis (55, 196); thus, the suppression of ACSL4 expression levels correlate with cell sensitivity to ferroptosis inducers (55, 196); thus, the suppression of ACSL4 expression may be a principal mechanism in increasing the cells' resistance to ferroptosis (25, 210).

As PUFA-rich lipid membranes are susceptible to ferroptosis, treatment of cells with PUFAs promotes ferroptosis. Treatment with dihomo-γ-linolenic acid (20:3n-6), a kind of PUFA, induces ferroptosis in human cancer cells and *Caenorhabditis elegans* (153), akin to the treatment of cells with PUFA-PL hydroperoxide [e.g., PC (16:0\_18:2 (9Z,11E));13OOH] causing sensitization to ferroptosis in human cancer cells and rat cardiomyoblasts (142, 181). In addition, PUFAs, in particular arachidonic acid, can induce inflammatory bowel disease by triggering ferroptosis in

*Gpx4*-deficient mice (139). Omega-3 (n-3) and n-6 PUFAs are able to induce ferroptosis in cancer cells under ambient acidosis, which prompts the cancer cells to take up exogenous fatty acids (48). Consistently, a diet rich in n-3 long-chain PUFAs (such as docosahexaenoic acid) delayed the growth of tumors in mice when compared with mice fed a MUFA-enriched diet (48), indicating dietary PUFAs as an emerging potential adjuvant antitumor modality. Conjugated linoleic acids (another class of PUFAs), such as  $\alpha$ -eleostearic acid, that are acylated and incorporated into cellular phospholipids in an ACSL1-dependent manner promote lipid peroxidation and ferroptosis (13) (**Figure 3b**). The oral administration of tung oil, which is naturally rich in  $\alpha$ -eleostearic acid, promotes ferroptosis and suppresses tumor growth in mice (13). Alternatively, the displacement of PUFAs from membrane phospholipids by MUFAs is an intrinsic way to prevent lipid peroxidation (**Figure 3b**). MUFA biosynthesis requires stearoyl-CoA desaturase 1 (SCD1), which converts saturated fatty acids into MUFAs (152), and ACSL3 preferentially catalyzes the acylation of MUFAs (132). Indeed, previous studies have demonstrated that exogenous supplementation of MUFAs and promotion of SCD1-mediated MUFA production suppress ferroptosis (132, 184, 217). Melanoma



#### Figure 3 (Figure appears on preceding page)

The phospholipid makeup dictates ferroptosis sensitivity. (a) Synthesis and remodeling of membrane PLs. ACSL catalyzes the ATP-dependent ligation of FAs with CoA to produce FA-CoA, which is esterified to PLs by LPLAT. FAs esterified in PLs are liberated by PLA<sub>2</sub> to generate free FAs and lyso-PLs. Lyso-PLs are converted to PLs in the presence of FA-CoA by LPLAT in the remodeling pathway. (b) AA and AdA are preferably acylated by ACSL4, while conjugated-linoleic acids, such as α-ESA, are acylated by ACSL1. Acylated AA and AdA (PUFA-CoA) are incorporated into PLs by LPCAT3 or other transferases. PUFA-PLs are oxidized nonenzymatically or enzymatically with a potential involvement of LOX, cytochrome POR, and CYB5R. Accumulation of oxidized PUFA-PLs eventually triggers ferroptosis, likely involving reactive aldehydes downstream of lipid peroxidation. Reduction of PLOOHs to PLOHs by GPX4 and remodeling of oxidized PLs (especially, hydrolysis of hydroperoxyeicosatetraenoic acid by  $iPLA_2\beta$ ) suppress lipid peroxidation and ferroptosis. SFAs are converted to MUFAs by SCD1. MUFAs, such as OA, are acylated by ACSL3 and are incorporated into PLs. PUFA-rich PLs are prone to lipid oxidation and proferroptotic, while, in contrast, MUFA-rich PLs are resistant to oxidation. Abbreviations:  $\alpha$ -ESA,  $\alpha$ -eleostearic acid; AA, arachidonic acid; ACSL, acyl-CoA synthetase long-chain family member; AdA, adrenic acid; CoA, coenzyme A; CYB5R, cytochrome b5 reductase; FA, fatty acid; GPX4, glutathione peroxidase 4; iPLA<sub>2</sub> $\beta$ , calciumindependent phospholipase A<sub>2</sub>β; LPCAT3, lysophosphatidylcholine acyltransferase 3; LOX, lipoxygenase; LPLAT, lysophospholipid acyltransferase; lyso-PL, lysophospholipid; MUFA, monounsaturated fatty acid; OA, oleic acid; PE, phosphatidylethanolamine; PLA2, phospholipase A2; PL, phospholipid; PLOH, phospholipid alcohol; PLOOH, phospholipid hydroperoxide; PUFA, polyunsaturated fatty acid; POR, cytochrome P450 oxidoreductase; SCD1, stearoyl-CoA desaturase 1; SFA, saturated fatty acid.

cells in the lymph have also been found to evade ferroptosis by enriching phospholipids with oleic acid (a MUFA) in an ACSL3-dependent manner (191).

In addition to the reduction of PLOOHs by GPX4, elimination of oxidized PUFAs from phospholipids is an alternative way to suppress ferroptosis (**Figure 3b**). Oxidatively modified PUFA-PLs, especially hydroperoxyeicosatetraenoic acid PE (HpETE-PE), have been reported as a characteristic proferroptotic signal in ferroptosis (100). A member of the Ca<sup>2+</sup>-independent family of PLA<sub>2</sub> enzymes (iPLA<sub>2</sub>), iPLA<sub>2</sub> $\beta$ , has been shown to act as an antiferroptotic regulator by eliminating the proferroptotic signal HpETE-PE in phospholipids by metabolizing to lyso-PLs and oxidized fatty acids during membrane remodeling (14, 32, 179). In addition, other enzymes involved in the fatty acid metabolism have also been reported as regulators of ferroptosis. For example, LPCAT3 (52), fatty acid desaturase-2 (197), acetyl-CoA carboxylase (171), and 2,4-dienoyl-CoA reductase (18) have been reported as drivers of ferroptosis, while lysophosphatidylserine lipase (103) has been reported as a suppressor of ferroptosis. Collectively, the profile of phospholipids containing sufficient PUFAs in the membrane determines cell sensitivity to ferroptosis, indicating that the manipulation of PUFA synthesis or degradation can modulate cell susceptibility to ferroptosis (2).

#### 4.2. Peroxisome and Plasmalogens

In addition to ACSL4-dependent PUFA-PLs, peroxisome-dependent polyunsaturated ether phospholipids have been reported to be susceptible to triggering ferroptosis when oxidized (43, 231). Accordingly, depletion of several genes involved in peroxisome biogenesis, such as *PEX3*, *PEX10*, and *PEX12*, decreased the number of peroxisomes and lowered ferroptosis sensitivity in cancer cells with diminished production of PUFA-ether phospholipids, such as plasmalogens. Unlike common phospholipids, plasmalogens contain an ether instead of an ester bond. At the *sn*-1 position, they contain a nonhydrolyzable chain that is ether linked, while the chain at *sn*-2 is linked by a conventional ester. Due to this special chemical structure, the synthesis of plasmalogen is initiated in the peroxisome. A ferroptosis-resistant phenotype, similar to that observed in ACSL4-deficient cells, was observed by depleting peroxisomal enzymes, such as alkylglycerone phosphate synthase, fatty acyl-CoA reductase 1, and glycerone phosphate O-acyltransferase, that

are involved in the synthesis of plasmalogens (231). These findings suggest that peroxisomes have an impact on cell sensitivity to ferroptosis by affecting the synthesis of plasmalogens, a subclass of ether phospholipids.

### 4.3. Contribution of Enzymatic Lipid Peroxidation Pathway to Ferroptosis

Although it is well accepted that the degree of unsaturation of lipid bilayers determines the sensitivity of cells to ferroptosis, it remains obscure what the trigger of lipid peroxidation as the prime event in ferroptosis induction is. Two possibilities of enzymatic and nonenzymatic routes are constantly being discussed. Lipid peroxidation can be initiated nonenzymatically by the direct generation of lipid radicals due to physical and chemical stresses or indirectly via the help of the hydroxyl radical ( $\bullet$ OH), one of the most reactive forms of ROS, from H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> in a reaction known as the Fenton reaction involving iron as the catalyst (154). During enzyme-mediated initiation, certain lipoxygenases (LOXs) can directly oxygenate PUFAs in membranes, leading to the formation of PLOOH, which in turn may trigger lipid peroxidation and ferroptosis as described in the foregoing (217). This possibility is supported by the observation that some pharmacological LOX inhibitors can prevent ferroptosis (122). In addition, another study reported that binding of a small scaffold protein, phosphatidylethanolamine-binding protein 1, seemingly promotes ferroptosis by enabling LOXs to generate lipid peroxides (206). However, frequently used LOX inhibitors possess intrinsic RTA activity and can prevent ferroptosis by nonspecifically suppressing lipid peroxidation (40, 165). In addition, deletion of Alox15 (the gene encoding 15-lipoxygenase) failed to prevent ferroptosis induced by loss of GPX4 in cultured cells and in several animal models (68, 137), suggesting that LOXs are not the actual drivers of lipid peroxidation and that alternative mechanisms may compensate for the loss of LOX activity. For instance, cytochrome P450 oxidoreductase (POR) has been recently reported to be involved in enzymatic lipid peroxidation triggering ferroptosis (232). POR is a flavin reductase required for the electron transfer from nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate (NADPH) to cytochrome P450 (CYP) and is thus essential for CYP-mediated reactions in the metabolism of drugs, xenobiotics, and steroid hormones. POR facilitates lipid peroxidation by transferring electrons from NAD(P)H to oxygen to generate H2O2, which reacts with iron to produce hydroxyl radials for peroxidation of PUFA-PLs (214) and/or by cycling between ferrous (Fe<sup>2+</sup>) and ferric (Fe<sup>3+</sup>) ions in the heme component of CYPs (12), thus promoting ferroptosis. Similarly, NADH-cytochrome b5 reductase has been reported to regulate ferroptosis by promoting lipid peroxidation in a mechanism similar to that of POR (214).

#### 4.4. Iron Handling in Ferroptosis

As the name ferroptosis implies, iron is an important element in ferroptosis. Intracellular redoxactive iron promotes ferroptosis by catalyzing the formation of lipid radicals as described in the foregoing. Accordingly, iron chelators prevent ferroptosis (at least to some extent) (51), whereas iron loading into tumor cells by nanoparticles has been repeatedly shown to promote ferroptosis (104, 200). This strongly suggests that nonenzymatic, iron-dependent Fenton reaction is crucial for ferroptosis (40). PLOOHs can react with both  $Fe^{2+}$  and  $Fe^{3+}$  to generate lipid radicals, driving the lipid peroxidation chain reaction; however, at least for the initiation phase of this iron-catalyzed reaction,  $Fe^{2+}$  (in the labile iron pool) is likely more relevant.

Consequently, many cellular processes that affect the import, export, storage, and release of cellular labile iron alter cell sensitivity to ferroptosis (228) (**Figure 4**). Extracellular ferric ions complexed with transferrin are taken up into cells mainly through transferrin receptor 1 (TFR1), which internalizes transferrin-bound iron into cells (6). Thus, knockdown of TFR1 lowers iron



#### Figure 4

Metabolic regulation of ferroptosis. The metabolic pathways driving and suppressing ferroptosis are summarized. (a) IFN-y and p53 sensitize cells to ferroptosis by suppression of system xc<sup>-</sup> expression. Glutamate competitively blocks cystine uptake through system  $x_c^-$ . Deprivation of glutamine, arginine, lysine, valine, or methionine independently suppresses ferroptosis induced by erastin or cystine withdrawal. The import, export, storage, and release of cellular labile iron alter cell sensitivity to ferroptosis. Heat stress augments lipid peroxidation through the upregulation of ACSBG1. Cold stress induces ferroptosis with involvement of mitochondrial Ca<sup>2+</sup> increase. (b) Activation of e-cadherin-mediated Hippo pathway, activation of AMPK by glucose starvation, and oxidative stress response mediated by NRF2 suppress ferroptosis. Mevalonate-pathway-generating CoQ10 affects ferroptosis. Tryptophan-derived indole derivatives, such as indole-3-pyruvic acid, confers antiferroptotic functions. Inhibition of mTOR suppresses erastin-induced ferroptosis, whereas it sensitizes cells to ferroptosis induced by GPX4 inhibition, such as by RSL3. Abbreviations:  $\alpha$ KG,  $\alpha$ -ketoglutarate; ACSBG1, acyl-CoA synthetase bubblegum family member 1; ACSL4, acyl-CoA synthetase long-chain family member 4; AMPK, AMP-activated protein kinase;  $CoQ_{10}$ , coenzyme  $Q_{10}$ ;  $Fe^{2+}$ , ferrous ion;  $Fe^{3+}$ , ferric ion; FPN, ferroportin; GPX4, glutathione peroxidase 4; HMG-CoA, 3-hydroxy-3-methylglutaryl coenzyme A; IFN-y, interferon gamma; IL4i1, interleukin 4 induced 1; IPP, isopentenyl pyrophosphate; mTORC1, mammalian target of rapamycin complex 1; NCOA4, nuclear receptor coactivator 4; NF2, neurofibromin 2; NRF2, nuclear factor erythroid 2-related factor 2; PCBP1, poly(rC)-binding protein 1; RSL3, (1S,3R)-RSL3; SCD1, stearoyl-CoA desaturase 1; SREBP1, sterol regulatory element binding transcription factor 1; TAZ, transcriptional coactivator with PDZ-binding motif; TCA, tricarboxylic acid; Tf, transferrin; TfR, transferrin receptor; YAP, Yes-associated protein. Figure adapted from images created with BioRender.com.

uptake into cells and thereby protects against ferroptosis (73). Intriguingly, the expression of TFR1 has been reported as a ferroptosis marker, and antibodies against TFR1 may detect ferroptosis in cell culture and tissue contexts (64). After ferric iron is taken into cells,  $Fe^{3+}$  is converted to the highly reactive  $Fe^{2+}$  and released from endosomes into the cytoplasm. This is mediated by divalent metal transporter 1 (DMT1), thereby forming an unstable iron pool in the cytoplasm. A fraction of  $Fe^{2+}$  in the iron pool is stored as ferritin to protect cells from toxic iron-mediated damage. Downregulating ferritin expression, especially its heavy chain, increases the labile iron

pool and accordingly sensitizes cells to ferroptosis (146). Specifically, knockdown of the ferritin heavy chain gene, Fth1, promotes cardiomyopathy, likely by enhancing ferroptosis (62), whereas knockdown of DMT1 has also been shown to suppress ferroptosis (174). Poly(rC)-binding protein 1 (PCBP1) is a cytosolic iron chaperone that assists in the delivery of iron to ferritin and other nonheme iron proteins (21). Hepatocyte-specific knockout of *Pcbp1* in mice causes increased labile iron and thereby exacerbates ferroptosis-associated liver damage (155). The iron chaperone frataxin has also been implicated as a regulator of ferroptosis susceptibility (56). Increasing cellular iron availability by ferritinophagy, an autophagic mechanism specifically degrading ferritin, likewise promotes ferroptosis (72, 89). Thus, blockage of autophagy or the knockdown of the selective cargo receptor nuclear receptor coactivator 4 limits ferritin degradation and confers resistance to ferroptosis. Conversely, mechanisms that enhance cellular iron export render cells more resistant to ferroptosis (24, 190). The ferrous iron exporter ferroportin 1 (FPN1) is responsible for cellular iron export and coupled with multicopper ferroxidases, including ceruloplasmin (6). Consequently, decreased expression of FPN1 (78) or ceruloplasmin (166) increases the sensitivity of cells to ferroptosis by inhibiting iron export outside cells. Alternatively, iron can be released in the form of ferritin-containing multivesicular bodies; thus, prominin2, which drives this process, suppresses ferroptosis sensitivity (24). Under ferroptotic stress, the expression of prominin2 is reported to be stimulated by 4-hydroxynonenal, a lipid peroxidation breakdown product, leading to intrinsic ferroptosis resistance (26). Iron-regulatory proteins IRP1 and IRP2, which are central in the posttranscriptional regulation of genes involved in intracellular iron homeostasis, indirectly impact ferroptosis by regulating downstream iron metabolism proteins, including TFR1, FPN1, and FTH1 (220). The transcription factor BTB domain and CNC homologue 1, a regulator of heme and iron metabolism, promotes ferroptosis by repressing the transcription of Fth1 and Ftl1, as well as glutathione synthesis enzymes (149). Liberating iron from heme via heme oxygenase 1 (HO-1)-mediated heme degradation has also been implicated in ferroptosis; however, the respective data remain contradictory, suggesting either ferroptosis-promoting or -suppressing roles of HO-1 in the death process (110, 180). Therefore, the role of HO-1 in ferroptosis is still obscure and requires further investigations.

#### 5. METABOLIC MODULATION OF FERROPTOSIS

Mounting evidence implicates multiple metabolic signaling pathways in the modulation of the cells' susceptibility to ferroptosis (**Figure 4**).

#### 5.1. Amino Acids as Proferroptotic Nutrients

The amino acids glutamate and glutamine play important roles in ferroptosis induction. Glutamate-induced oxicytotoxicity in HT-22 neuronal cells, previously called oxytosis (183), was shown to be involved in ferroptosis. High concentrations of extracellular glutamate competitively block cystine uptake through system  $x_c^-$ , leading to cellular GSH exhaustion and the accumulation of lipid hydroperoxides (51) and cell death. This type of cell death is iron dependent and is prevented by radical trapping of ferroptosis inhibitors (51). These features thus share the concept of ferroptosis.

In the absence of glutamine in the culture medium, cystine starvation and blockage of cystine import by erastin fails to induce ferroptosis (73). The observation that  $\alpha$ -ketoglutarate (73), a product of glutaminolysis, can replace the requirement of glutamine for ferroptosis (73) suggested the importance of glutaminolysis in ferroptosis. Mechanistically, the promotion of lipid peroxidation by an increased generation of mitochondria-derived ROS was considered (74). However, glutamine is not necessary for ferroptosis induced by RSL3 (an inhibitor of GPX4)

(74). Deprivation of other several amino acids (arginine, lysine, valine, and methionine) as well as glutamine independently suppressed ferroptosis induced by erastin2 (an analog of erastin) or cystine cowithdrawal (38). Pyruvate (>5 mM) can also replace the requirement of glutamine for erastin-induced ferroptosis (198). Taken together, strongly reduced proliferation rates of cells following (acute) perturbation of amino acids homeostasis is a likely mechanism to suppress ferroptosis under conditions of disrupted cystine utilization.

Metabolic pathways involving other amino acids also impinge on ferroptosis susceptibility in various ways. Interleukin 4 induced 1, an amino acid oxidase secreted from immune cells, generates indole-3-pyruvic acid from tryptophan, which confers antiferroptotic functions by its RTA activity and through the activation of an oxidative stress response (223). Other indole derivatives also have RTA activity (84), and gut microbiota can produce a large amount of indole from tryptophan (141, 175). It is thus tempting to hypothesize that microbiota-derived indoles might exert their action to prevent lipid peroxidation and ferroptosis in the intestine. Knockdown or inhibition of aspartate aminotransaminase triggered ferroptosis by enhancing labile iron availability through the autophagy pathway activated by repression of mitochondrial metabolism and by promoting a catabolic state (108). Intriguingly, unlike in mouse embryonic fibroblasts, deficiency of the cystine transporter xCT does not induce ferroptosis in macrophages (106). Mechanistically, elevated expression of carnosine dipeptidase II, a cytosolic dipeptidase that hydrolyses cysteinylglycine dipeptide, can recruit cystine into cells under cystine-deprived conditions in xCT knockout macrophages, thereby protecting cells against ferroptosis (106).

#### 5.2. Glucose

Energy stress depletes ATP, increases ROS levels, and induces cell death. For example, glucose limitation (1 mM of glucose in culture medium) induces nonferroptotic cell death, such as in cancer cells overexpressing xCT (125); in contrast, glucose starvation (glucose-free culture medium) blocks ferroptosis (115, 118). This protective effect of glucose starvation was found to depend on the activity of AMP-activated protein kinase (AMPK), a sensor of cellular energy status (115). When glucose is depleted, AMPK is activated, turning on an energy stress-protective program against ferroptosis through acetyl-CoA carboxylase and PUFA biosynthesis. Cancer cells with high basal AMPK activation are resistant to ferroptosis, and AMPK inactivation sensitizes these cells to ferroptosis, demonstrating that energy stress inhibits ferroptosis partly through AMPK-mediated energy stress signaling (115). In contrast, a high-glucose environment enhances sensitivity of cells toward ferroptosis induced by  $x_c^-$  inhibitors in cancer cells (173). Mechanistically, SLC2A1 (GLUT1)-mediated glucose uptake promotes glycolysis and facilitates pyruvate oxidation, thus fueling the tricarboxylic acid cycle and stimulating fatty acid synthesis, which eventually facilitates lipid peroxidation-dependent ferroptotic death (173). These findings suggest that metabolic rewiring overcomes ferroptosis resistance.

#### 5.3. NADPH

Cells constantly need to maintain NADPH levels to sustain redox homeostasis and cell survival in addition to multiple catabolic processes. A key role for NADPH in the prevention of ferroptosis is to nourish the GSH- and FSP1-dependent systems, as well as to maintain mevalonate biosynthesis and elongation of fatty acids. NADPH can be produced through a variety of metabolic pathways, including the pentose phosphate pathway (PPP) (126). Cellular NADPH abundance is considered a biomarker for predicting sensitivity to ferroptosis across several cancer cell lines (170). Cancer cells with elevated expression of system  $x_c^-$  require high NADPH supply provided by the PPP route to reduce highly insoluble cystine to the more soluble cysteine. In these cells,

glucose limitation restricts glycolytic flow to the PPP, thereby depleting cellular NADPH levels. This in turn results in marked accumulation of intracellular cystine, leading to rapid cell death (125). Cellular NADPH levels are also regulated by metazoan SpoT homologue 1 (MESH1), a cytosolic NADPH phosphatase, which degrades NADPH into NADH. Thus, overexpression of MESH1 depletes cellular NADPH and sensitizes cells to ferroptosis (49). NADPH can also be synthesized through phosphorylation of NAD by NAD kinase (NADK). Hence, suppressing NADK also decreases intracellular NADPH levels and thereby sensitizes the cells to ferroptosis (170).

# 5.4. mTORC1

Mammalian target of rapamycin complex 1 (mTORC1) is a nutrient sensor that is activated by amino acids (especially leucine and arginine) (208), energy (e.g., glucose), and growth factors (e.g., insulin). Activation of mTORC1 signaling promotes protein biosynthesis and suppresses autophagy. Several studies have reported conflicting findings on the role of mTOR signaling in both the pro- and antiferroptotic pathway (117). A compound screening study identified that several ATP-competitive mTOR inhibitors suppress ferroptosis triggered by system  $x_c^-$  inhibition or direct cystine deprivation in a targeted manner (38). It was also demonstrated that knockdown of mTORC1 suppresses ferroptosis induced by system  $x_c^-$  inhibition, suggesting that mTORC1 signaling is a proferroptotic pathway. In contrast, other studies reported that the pharmacological inhibition of mTORC1 decreased GPX4 expression, thus sensitizing cancer cells to ferroptosis (226). Similarly, inhibition of the PI3K-AKT-mTOR signaling axis increases sensitivity of cells to ferroptosis (222). The activation of mTORC1 has also been shown to induce the expression of SREBP1 (a transcription factor regulating lipid metabolism) and its transcriptional target SCD1, mediating ferroptosis-suppressing activity by increasing cellular MUFA content (222). Furthermore, mTOR inhibition and RSL3 synergistically induce autophagy-dependent ferroptosis (127). These results therefore indicate that mTOR signaling acts in suppressing ferroptosis. Similar to those in HO-1, the effects of mTOR signaling in ferroptosis differ substantially and might depend on the type of cells and ferroptosis inducers (such as inhibitors of  $x_c^-$  or those of GPX4) used; as such, these effects must be investigated further.

#### 5.5. NRF2: Antioxidant Response

Nuclear factor erythroid 2-related factor 2 (NRF2) is a master transcription factor of the cellular antioxidant response, controlling the expression of genes that counteract oxidative and electrophilic stresses. Many NRF2 downstream target genes are involved in preventing or correcting cellular redox imbalances. Consequently, the oxidative stress response by NRF2 can mitigate ferroptosis by stimulating the expression of several of its canonical target genes (5). With the noble exception of *GPX4*, almost all gene products that are implicated in ferroptosis regulation are transcriptionally regulated by NRF2, including genes involved in glutathione regulation (e.g., *SLC7A11*, both subunits of  $\gamma$ -GCS), NADPH regeneration (e.g., *G6PD* and *PGD*), iron regulation (e.g., ferritin and *FPN*), and the recently described antiferroptotic players *FSP1/AIFM2* and *DHFR* (36, 53, 143). Consequently, NRF2 activation, genetically or pharmacologically, such as by bardoxolone methyl, renders cells resistant to ferroptosis (69, 180). Of note, some conventional NRF2 activators, such as natural flavonoids (e.g., kaempferol and quercetin), possess direct RTA activity in addition to their NRF2 stimulatory activity (221); this dual activity thus leaves an inherent issue in considering the antiferroptotic action of these compounds, as is the case for many LOX inhibitors (as described above), which were shown to have potent RTA activity.

### 5.6. Hippo-YAP Signaling

The Hippo-YAP pathway, which might be modulated by nutrient availability and cell metabolism, is involved in coordinating organ growth and homeostasis (90). The observation that cells grown at high density are more resistant to ferroptosis led to the investigation of the role of the Hippo-YAP pathway in ferroptosis (210). This cell density effect is perhaps analogous to earlier data, when it was shown that c-Myc-driven B cell lymphoma cells (e.g., Burkitt's lymphoma) rapidly grow under high cell densities, whereas they readily die when plated at nonpermissive cell culture concentrations (23). Moreover, Gpx4 knockout cells can easily survive when these cells are plated at high cell concentrations and grown to confluence (164). Concerning the underlying mechanisms, cell density-mediated intercellular interactions play a role in the regulation of ferroptosis. Cell-cell contact activates e-cadherin-mediated Hippo signaling and depends on intracellular NF2/merlin, which in turn impairs activation of the transcriptional coregulator YAP (216). Since YAP targets several crucial ferroptosis modulators, such as ACSL4, TFR1, and possibly others, Hippo activation and YAP inactivation render cells more resistant to ferroptosis (Figure 4). Similarly, TAZ, a homologue of YAP, also regulates cell-density-dependent ferroptosis in cancer cells that primarily express TAZ instead of YAP (216). These findings provide mechanistic insights into why cancer cells with mesenchymal or metastatic properties may show increased susceptibility to ferroptosis (196).

#### 5.7. Thermal Stress in Ferroptosis: Heat and Cold Stress

Changes in extracellular temperature affect a series of cellular responses, including metabolic state; indeed, both hyperthermic and hypothermic stress induce ferroptosis. In plants, heat stress (55°C, 10 min) has been shown to trigger ferroptosis-like cell death characterized by iron dependency, GSH depletion, and lipid ROS increase (44, 50); however, this type of cell death requires  $Ca^{2+}$ influx unlike in ferroptosis of mammalian cells. Heat stress also facilitates the induction of ferroptosis in mammalian cells and could be a valid strategy in cancer therapy. Metabolic control by heat (45°C) augments iron oxide nanoparticle-induced oxidative stress, triggers lipid peroxidation through the downregulation of glutathione biosynthesis enzymes and upregulation of acyl-CoA synthetase bubblegum family member 1, and thereby causes ferroptosis (211). In the process of heat-induced ferroptosis, the direct effect of heat alone may promote lipid peroxidation, as lipids such as oils naturally undergo oxidation under heat (157). Likewise, severe cold stress also induces ferroptosis (82). Cultured cells treated with prolonged cold stress by placing plates on ice induced cell death that was prevented by radical trapping ferroptosis inhibitors and iron chelators. Activation of the ASK1-p38-mediated stress signaling pathway and the involvement of mitochondrial  $Ca^{2+}$  have been reported in this type of death (147). Resistance to cold-induced ferroptosis may explain why mammalian hibernators can endure severe prolonged hypothermia that is lethal to nonhibernators, including humans and mice. A mammalian hibernator, e.g., the Syrian hamster, has a phospholipid composition in liver that is less susceptible to peroxidation than that in mice, and it has superior ability to retain dietary  $\alpha$ -tocopherol in the body (7). Indeed, hepatocytes from Syrian hamsters exhibited resistance to prolonged cold culture, whereas murine hepatocytes underwent cold-induced ferroptosis.

In a clinical setting, cold-stress-induced tissue damage is observed during organ preservation for transplantation, and preservation solution supplemented with iron chelators has been shown to result in improved tissue function of the transplanted organ (114). Human livers retrieved for organ transplantation can be stored at  $-4^{\circ}$ C by supercooling, effectively extending the ex vivo life of the organ with a reduced number of TdT-mediated dUTP-biotin nick end labeling–positive dead cells compared with standard hypothermic preservation without ice (47). These findings suggest the involvement of ferroptosis in cold-stress-induced damage of transplantation organs and that supercooling might prevent them from succumbing to ferroptosis due to deeper metabolic stasis.

# 6. SUPPRESSION AND INDUCTION OF FERROPTOSIS

#### 6.1. Suppressors of Ferroptosis

There is a growing interest in the identification and development of new chemical entities as novel ferroptosis suppressors and inducers (see comprehensive review in 123). In principle, ferroptosis can be prevented by the following approaches: (*a*) scavenging lipid hydroperoxyl radicals with RTAs, (*b*) depleting iron, (*c*) decreasing PUFA-containing PLs, and (*d*) modulating ferroptosis-regulating pathways.

Considering that ferroptosis is driven by phospholipid peroxidation, administration of lipophilic RTAs, such as ferrostatin-1 (51), liproxstatin-1 (68), and vitamin E, is a key strategy for preventing ferroptosis (230). These agents and their analogs are highly effective in cell models of ferroptosis and can be effective in some in vivo contexts. In addition, compound screening revealed that drugs with potential RTA activity, including some US Food and Drug Administration-approved drugs [such as rifampicin (an antibiotic), promethazine (an antihistamine), and bazedoxifene (a drug used for osteoporosis)], prevent ferroptosis (38, 142). However, the cellular localization of the respective RTA required for effective suppression of ferroptosis has not been fully elucidated. Ferrostatin-1 and its analogs (ferrostatins) localize to lysosomes, mitochondria, and the endoplasmic reticulum with little accumulation in the nucleus and plasma membrane. Nonetheless, accumulation in neither lysosome nor mitochondria is required for ferrostatin-mediated suppression of ferroptosis (77). Therefore, identification of the functional localization of the RTAs may help to reveal the primary cellular site of lipid peroxidation triggering ferroptosis and the precise role of the respective organelle involved in ferroptosis. Another strategy for suppressing ferroptosis is depletion of the cellular labile iron pool by using iron chelators, such as deferoxamine, or using lysosome/autophagy inhibitors (bafilomycin A1 and chloroquine) to block ferritinophagy (72). A third approach is to administer deuterated PUFAs that are chemically more resistant to peroxidation due to the isotope effect (230). Such deuterated PUFAs retard the radical chain reaction of lipid peroxidation and prevent ferroptosis (217). Similarly, administration of MUFAs has been shown to limit ferroptosis and may be potentially exploited for therapeutic applications (132). A fourth strategy involves targeting enzymes responsible for ferroptosis regulation, such as the upregulation of the ferroptosis-suppressing genes, including GPX4, FSP1, DHODH, and NRF2, and the downregulation of the ferroptosis-promoting genes, including ACSL4 and POR.

#### 6.2. Inducers of Ferroptosis

Increasing the cell's sensitivity to ferroptosis can be achieved by the following approaches: (*a*) blocking the cyst(e)ine/GSH/GPX4 axis, (*b*) facilitating iron-mediated oxygen radical formation, (*c*) increasing the intracellular labile iron pool, (*d*) increasing PUFA-containing phospholipids, and (*e*) modulating ferroptosis-regulating pathways.

Erastin and its analog imidazole ketone erastin (113), with increased potency and water solubility, are strong and irreversible inhibitors of system  $x_c^-$ . Sulfasalazine also targets system  $x_c^-$ , but with lower potency and selectivity. Sorafenib has been repeatedly reported to induce ferroptosis, possibly through the inhibition of system  $x_c^-$  (112); however, a recent report has shown that the cell death–inducing activity of sorafenib is independent of system  $x_c^-$  and that it fails to engage ferroptosis across many cancer cell lines (229). L-buthionine sulfoximine is a specific inhibitor

of  $\gamma$ -GCS that causes GSH depletion and ferroptotic cell death (142). RSL3 is the prototypical GPX4 inhibitor (218), but it also inhibits other selenoproteins due to the lack of specificity among selenoproteins (71). Although RSL3 is the most frequently used ferroptosis inducer for in vitro experiments, it is difficult to use it for in vivo experiments because of its poor bioavailability. Akin to RSL3, ML210, a nitroisoxazole-containing compound, also covalently inhibits GPX4 and induces ferroptosis (205), and ML210 exhibits improved selectivity toward GPX4 (59). FIN56 induces ferroptosis via a dual mechanism, promoting the degradation of GPX4 and affecting the  $CoQ_{10}$  biosynthesis pathway (171). Ferroptocide, a derivative of the natural product pleuromutilin, induces ferroptosis by inhibition of thioredoxins. Organic endoperoxide compounds, such as artemisinin and artesunate, can induce ferroptosis by generating iron-dependent free radicals (151). Artemisinin is a naturally occurring antimalarial compound discovered from traditional Chinese medicine (189). The cytotoxic potency of artemisinin has been explored for its potential anticancer property (9). FINO2, an endoperoxide-containing 1,2-dioxolane, discovered by screening the derivatives of artemisinin (1), is a unique ferroptotic inducer that functions by direct oxidation of iron and indirect inactivation of GPX4 (76). Other artemisinin derivatives, such as dihydroartemisinin, can induce lysosomal degradation of ferritin in an autophagy-independent manner, increasing the cellular labile iron level and thereby sensitizing cells to ferroptosis (33).

Nanoparticle-based strategies to deliver iron or PUFAs to kill tumor cells by inducing ferroptosis have also been tested. Biocompatible iron oxide nanoparticles can serve as iron ion suppliers to both enhance ROS production and participate in iron metabolism involved in ferroptosis (156). The addition of PUFAs to nanoparticles has been reported to improve the therapeutic efficacy of anticancer agents (158).

As ferroptotic cell death is regulated by multiple metabolic pathways, a multidimensional approach of combining several proferroptotic features might efficiently trigger ferroptosis. Pharmacological inhibition of FSP1, DHODH, and DHFR by iFSP1, brequinar, and methotrexate, respectively, has been shown to sensitize cells to ferroptosis in synergy with inhibitors of GPX4 or system  $x_c^-$  (54, 135, 176).

#### 7. POTENTIAL PHYSIOLOGICAL ROLE OF FERROPTOSIS

Evolutionarily, ferroptosis may be (one of) the earliest forms of regulated cell death (27). However, the physiological relevance of ferroptosis remains unclear, unlike that of other forms of regulated cell death, such as apoptosis and necroptosis. However, indirect evidence suggests a possible physiological role for ferroptosis in innate immune surveillance and the eradication of tumors and pathogens. The finding that  $CD8^+$  T cell-derived interferon-y sensitizes tumor target cells to ferroptosis by suppression of system  $x_c^-$  expression (159, 201) suggests a role for ferroptosis in the innate immune response. Furthermore, it provides insights into investigating cells that exploit ferroptosis for disease prevention or the shaping of organs during development. The potential function of ferroptosis in innate responses is not limited to mammals and may be relevant in bacteria and plants as well. The prokaryotic bacterium Pseudomonas aeruginosa takes advantage of theft-ferroptosis as a virulence mechanism using its LOX. Targeting and hijacking the host redox lipid remodeling pathway leads to the accumulation of proferroptotic PLOOHs in human bronchial epithelial cells (45, 46). In rice, induction of ferroptosis-like cell death prevents infection by the fungus *Magnaporthe oryzae* by removing infected cells and preventing the pathogen from spreading (169). In addition, a ferroptosis inducer, artemisinin (151), which is a generator of iron-dependent free radicals, is used as medicine for malaria parasite (19). These findings support the hypothesis that pathogen eradication in the host analogous to sensitizing tumor cells for T cell-mediated killing may be a beneficial physiological function of ferroptosis.



#### Figure 5

Contribution of ferroptosis to different disease contexts and therapeutic strategies targeting ferroptosis. Ferroptosis contributes to the pathophysiology of acute organ injury, neurodegenerative diseases, and cellular mechanisms in tumor suppression of therapy-resistant cancers. Suppression of ferroptosis in organ injury and neurodegenerative diseases, induction of ferroptosis in cancer cells, and prevention of ferroptosis in antitumor cells are considered as therapeutic strategies for each disease condition. Abbreviations: GSH, glutathione; GPX4, glutathione peroxidase 4; PUFA-PL, polyunsaturated fatty acid phospholipids.

# 8. IMPLICATIONS OF FERROPTOSIS IN DISEASE

Although the actual contribution of ferroptosis to physiology remains unclear, its role in various disease contexts has been extensively investigated (**Figure 5**). In addition, the pharmacological targeting of ferroptosis has been repeatedly reported to be a valid strategy for the treatment of these conditions in various animal models.

# 8.1. Ferroptosis Sensitivity in Cancer

Ferroptosis has been linked to cancer, and numerous cancer-related genes and signaling pathways indeed regulate ferroptosis. Compelling evidence suggests that targeting genes and pathways that regulate ferroptosis may provide new opportunities for treating cancers. For example, p53, a key transcription factor suppressing cancer development, was reported to inhibit cystine uptake by repressing the expression of system  $x_c^-$ , thus rendering cells more sensitive to ferroptosis and thereby suppressing tumor growth (97). Intriguingly, therapy-resistant mesenchymal cancer cells (196) and drug-tolerant persister cells (81) have been shown to become highly dependent on GPX4 for their survival, thus possibly presenting a druggable vulnerability for ferroptosis induction. For instance, the cell differentiation state has been negatively correlated with the sensitivity to ferroptosis inducers (188), and system  $x_c^-$  was shown to be required for the metastasis of cancer cells (162). Thus, induction of ferroptosis might be regarded as a promising therapeutic strategy for the treatment of therapy-resistant cancers.

Blocking the endogenous defense systems that regulate ferroptosis is an effective way to induce ferroptosis in cancer cells. Inhibiting system  $x_c^-$  either pharmacologically (227) or genetically (10, 162) has been shown to restrain tumor growth and metastasis in various types of cancer in mouse models. When the  $x_c^-$ -dependent cystine import is blocked by erastin, increased expression of the oxidative stress sensor protein DJ-1 (also known as Parkinson disease protein 7) allows cells to maintain cysteine levels provided by the transsulfuration pathway (29). Thus, suppression of DJ-1 synergistically enhanced the antitumor efficacy of erastin analog in vivo. Targeting GPX4 is also a promising therapeutic strategy to sensitize cancer cells toward ferroptosis and to eradicate tumors. Indeed, genetic ablation of *GPX4* in cancer cells prevented tumor growth in various xenograft

animal models (196, 233). However, GPX4 lacks suitable binding pockets, and this deficiency poses a major challenge for conventional medicinal chemistry approaches to develop targeted drug therapy (42), likely requiring other targeting strategies. The widely used GPX4 inhibitors, including RSL3, are strong electrophiles that irreversibly modify the catalytic Sec residue within selenoproteins, leading to the irreversible inhibition of almost all human selenoproteins including GPX4 (71). Thus, this class of inhibitors is likely not ideal for in vivo application primarily due to its lack of specificity in addition to metabolic stability issues in plasma. The CoQ<sub>10</sub>-related ferroptosis defense may be a suitable target for inducing ferroptosis in cancer cells. FSP1 is abundantly expressed in most tumor cell lines, and genetic deletion or pharmacological inhibitor of cancer cells (54). The DHODH inhibitor brequinar, in combination with system  $x_c^-$  inhibitor sulfasalazine, suppresses tumor growth (135), especially with low expression levels of GPX4, by inducing ferroptosis in a xenograft mouse model.

The involvement of ferroptosis has also been reported in cancer immunotherapy (212). CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells play a central role in antitumor immunity, although their activity is subject to inhibition in the tumor microenvironment (99). Immune checkpoint blocking therapy with anti–programmed death ligand 1 antibodies stimulates CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells to secrete interferon- $\gamma$ , which suppresses system  $x_c^-$  activity in target cancer cells, sensitizing them to ferroptosis (201). In the tumor microenvironment, fatty acids have been shown to induce ferroptosis in CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells in a CD36-dependent manner, thereby dampening the intratumoral CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell effector function with an overall impairment of their antitumor activity (130). Consistently, inhibiting ferroptosis of CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells by blocking CD36 enhances the antitumor efficacy of immunotherapy by anti–programmed death 1 antibodies. Besides CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells, inhibition of ferroptosis might also be crucial for the survival of antitumor immune cells such as B cells and natural killer cells in the tumor microenvironment (212). Therefore, conceptually, immunotherapy in combination with ferroptosis induction in cancer cells and/or ferroptosis suppression in antitumor immune cells would have synergistic anticancer effects (**Figure 5**).

Irradiation can trigger ferroptosis by upregulation of ACSL4 in cancer cells (116); thus, ferroptosis is also implicated as a contributor to some of the adverse events of radiation, such as lung fibrosis and death of granulocyte-macrophage hematopoietic progenitor cells (120, 225). Ferroptosis is also reported to be involved in the cell death mechanism underlying the cytotoxicity of some existing chemotherapeutics such as doxorubicin (63) and cisplatin (142). However, the direct cytotoxic effects of these agents do not involve ferroptosis alone. Cisplatin-induced cell death in cultured cells is insensitive to lipophilic RTAs (142), while doxorubicin activates caspase-3 (182), indicating the contribution of cell death mechanisms other than ferroptosis under in vitro conditions. Nonetheless, in vivo, several cell death pathways may contribute to cytotoxic pathophysiology (37). Thus, ferroptosis is likely part of the complex of cell death pathways involved in cytotoxicity of these drugs.

#### 8.2. Ferroptosis in Ischemia-Reperfusion Injury

Compelling evidence suggests that ferroptosis is the main contributor to cell death associated with IRI (35) (Figure 5). Ischemia followed by reperfusion is known to generate ROS. This in turn induces massive cell death and inflammatory responses in the affected organs, resulting in devastating diseases, including brain stroke and ischemic heart disease as well as injuries to the liver and kidney. Ischemia/reperfusion is commonly used as an organ damage model in animals. Ferroptosis inhibitors, mainly lipophilic RTAs, have been successfully applied in animal models of ischemia/reperfusion-related tissue injuries including brain (3), heart (65), intestine (121),

kidney (124), and liver (68). Similarly, ferroptosis inhibitors also ameliorate acute organ damage other than IRI, such as in a genetic model of inducible whole-body *Gpx4* deletion and animal models accompanied by massive cell death (68, 124, 128). In addition, recent single-cell transcriptomic analysis showed that ferroptotic stress (such as downregulation of the genes relating to the cyst(e)ine/GSH/GPX4 axis and upregulation of ACSL4) triggered a persistent proinflammatory state in damaged proximal tubular cells following kidney IRI (91). These findings expand on the roles of ferroptotic stress being a trigger of cell death to include the promotion and accumulation of proinflammatory cells that underlie pathologic inflammation and fibrosis. Ischemia/reperfusion is an inevitable clinical consequence of organ transplantation. Thus, ferroptosis has also been implicated in posttransplant complications in transplantation of the heart (119) and liver (213), and the suppression of ferroptosis is warranted as a therapeutic strategy to overcome IRI in solid organ transplantation.

The iron status in disease conditions, in which ferroptosis is suspected to play a role, has been explored. In an animal model of kidney IRI, exogenous iron infusion was shown to exacerbate kidney damage, while the treatment with iron chelators was tissue protective (167). Iron chelators have also been investigated in animal models of extrarenal acute organ injury, with respect to the heart, lungs, liver, brain, and immune system, and have provided encouraging results (167). The removal of toxic forms of nontransferrin-bound iron from the circulation has been shown to prevent downstream harmful effects caused by nontransferrin-bound iron, such as lipid peroxidation and ferroptosis. Clinically, iron overload indicated by high serum ferritin levels has been associated with hepatic IRI observed in the donor liver of transplantation (213). Feeding mice a high-iron-containing diet, under severe but not mild iron overload, triggered liver damage with lipid peroxidation, which was rescued by the ferroptosis inhibitor ferrostatin-1 (199).

#### 8.3. Role of Ferroptosis in Neurodegenerative Disease

A progressive loss of neuronal cells is the common feature of neurodegenerative diseases. Ferroptotic cell death has been implicated in neurodegenerative diseases such as Alzheimer's disease, Parkinson's disease, and amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (ALS) (34, 96) (Figure 5). Lipid peroxidation and iron accumulation have been characterized in these diseases long before the discovery and description of ferroptosis (79). Lipofuscin is a highly oxidized cross-linked pathological biomolecule of yellow-brown pigment granules, such as those found in the retina and brain, and appears to be the product of the oxidation of unsaturated fatty acids and contains metals such as iron (145). It is traditionally associated with aging and has a potential physiological role in neurodegenerative disorders. The presence of lipofuscin is indirect evidence of lipid peroxidation in a lesion. Genetic studies in mice confirmed that conditional Gpx4 deletion can cause symptoms mimicking neurodegeneration, such as motor neuron degeneration (34) and cognitive impairment (80). Furthermore, iron chelators and lipophilic RTAs have been tested to mitigate neurodegeneration (e.g., Alzheimer's disease and Parkinson's disease) in animal models (15, 136). Edaravone, which is a radical scavenger and an approved drug for treatment of ALS and stroke, prevents ferroptosis in vitro (88). Cu<sup>II</sup> (atsm), an investigational new drug that ameliorates neuronal loss in mouse models of ALS and Parkinson's disease, has been reported to protect against ferroptosis (177). Vatiquinone (EPI-743, α-tocotrienol quinone), possessing antiferroptotic activity (101), has been clinically studied for several mitochondrial diseases presenting neurological deficits as well as Friedreich ataxia (Clinical Trials.gov: NCT04378075, NCT04577352). The potential benefit of deuterated PUFA administration has been reported in animal models of neurodegeneration, and clinical trials are currently ongoing in patients suffering from neurodegenerative disease conditions, such as ALS (168). So far, a number of small-scale clinical trials potentially targeting ferroptosis as a therapeutic intervention for neurodegenerative diseases by iron chelators, antioxidants, and selenium supplementation have been performed; however, the beneficial effects of these interventions have been controversial and not very convincing up until now (8).

Owing to the lack of robust biomarkers specific for ferroptosis, the link between ferroptosis and human diseases remains poorly explored and still limited. Our current understanding of this subject is mostly based on studies using conditional *Gpx4* knockout mice and pathological models that recapitulate the features of ferroptosis. To consider the clinical targets for modulating ferroptosis, optimal disease conditions (type of disease, stages during the chronic disease period, severity, genetic background) and corresponding efficacy of the drugs must be carefully considered.

#### 8.4. COVID-19 and Ferroptosis

The severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 (SARS-CoV-2) pandemic is responsible for a huge number of respiratory syndrome coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) cases, which are characterized by respiratory distress and, in severe cases, cytokine storm, coagulopathy, and multiple organ dysfunction syndrome (30). Several studies reported the potential relationship between ferroptosis and COVID-19 (215). Selenoproteins are implicated in the antioxidant, anti-inflammatory, and antiviral actions of selenium (178), which has been found to be a significant factor affecting the incidence and severity of a number of viral diseases in both animals and humans. Indeed, lower selenium status was associated with poor cure rates and mortality risk from COVID-19 (144, 224). SARS-CoV-2 infection suppresses mRNA expression of *GPX4* in Vero cells (203). In an autopsy case with severe COVID-19, immunohistopathological analysis showed accumulated oxidized phosphatidylcholine in the affected myocardial tissue (95). These findings likely imply ferroptosis as a detrimental factor in organ injury during shock and multiorgan failure in severe COVID-19 cases.

#### 9. CONCLUSION AND FUTURE PERSPECTIVE

Ferroptosis is currently considered to be the consequence of the perturbation of various metabolic pathways and the improper functioning of the main ferroptosis surveillance systems. Recent advances have provided insights into the molecular mechanisms that are involved in ferroptosis, particularly its relationship with cellular metabolism, nutrient signaling, and extracellular redox conditions. Thus, variations in the composition of the culture medium and cell conditions as well as diets provided to animal models greatly influence the cellular metabolic state in cell culture and in vivo and thus inevitably impact the susceptibility of cells and tissues to ferroptosis. In addition, the influence differs from the effects of ferroptosis inducers (such as inhibitors of system  $x_c^-$  or those of GPX4). As such, these environmental variabilities (e.g., cell confluency and concentrations of glucose, serum, iron, selenium, and amino acids as well as overall antioxidant content) need to be carefully controlled when investigating the role of ferroptosis in vitro and in vivo. Besides these considerations, there are several outstanding questions in the field of ferroptosis. The precise molecular events, following the accumulation of peroxidation of PUFA-PLs, that lead to ferroptosis are not yet known. Potentially beneficial physiological functions of ferroptosis likewise remain to be uncovered. Moreover, the precise biological markers for detecting ferroptosis need to be identified for facilitating future research. Biomarkers that are unique to ferroptosis—analogous to active caspase-3 for apoptosis or phosphorylated mixed lineage kinase domain like pseudokinase for necroptosis-must be identified and validated in patients suffering from neurodegenerative diseases or other organ damage conditions that are suspected to involve ferroptosis. Biomarker identification will be indispensable not only in determining the involvement of ferroptosis in a pathological condition but also in assessing the pharmacodynamics of novel antiferroptotic therapies. Establishment of ferroptosis-specific biomarkers will also promote the application of our understanding of ferroptosis into clinical settings for diagnosis and treatment of several difficult-to-treat diseases.

# **DISCLOSURE STATEMENT**

M.C. holds patents for some of the compounds described herein and is a cofounder and shareholder of ROSCUE Therapeutics GmbH.

# ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This work was supported by funding from the Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft (DFG) CO 291/7-1, CO 291/9-1, and CO 291/10-1, the German Federal Ministry of Education and Research (BMBF), the VIP+ program NEUROPROTEKT (03VP04260), and the European Research Council under the European Union's Horizon 2020 research and innovation program (grant agreement GA 884754) to M.C. and from JSPS (20KK0363), Japan Heart Foundation/Bayer Yakuhin Research Grant Abroad, the Uehara Memorial Foundation, and Watanabe Foundation to E.M.

# LITERATURE CITED

- 1. Abrams RP, Carroll WL, Woerpel KA. 2016. Five-membered ring peroxide selectively initiates ferroptosis in cancer cells. *ACS Chem. Biol.* 11:1305–12
- Aldrovandi M, Fedorova M, Conrad M. 2021. Juggling with lipids, a game of Russian roulette. *Trends Endocrinol. Metab.* 32:463–73
- 3. Alim I, Caulfield JT, Chen Y, Swarup V, Geschwind DH, et al. 2019. Selenium drives a transcriptional adaptive program to block ferroptosis and treat stroke. *Cell* 177:1262–79.e25
- 4. Altamura S, Vegi NM, Hoppe PS, Schroeder T, Aichler M, et al. 2020. Glutathione peroxidase 4 and vitamin E control reticulocyte maturation, stress erythropoiesis and iron homeostasis. *Haematologica* 105:937–50
- 5. Anandhan A, Dodson M, Schmidlin CJ, Liu P, Zhang DD. 2020. Breakdown of an ironclad defense system: the critical role of NRF2 in mediating ferroptosis. *Cell Chem. Biol.* 27:436–47
- 6. Anderson GJ, Vulpe CD. 2009. Mammalian iron transport. Cell. Mol. Life Sci. 66:3241-61
- Anegawa D, Sugiura Y, Matsuoka Y, Sone M, Shichiri M, et al. 2021. Hepatic resistance to cold ferroptosis in a mammalian hibernator Syrian hamster depends on effective storage of diet-derived α-tocopherol. *Commun. Biol.* 4:796
- 8. Ashraf A, So PW. 2020. Spotlight on ferroptosis: iron-dependent cell death in Alzheimer's disease. *Front. Aging Neurosci.* 12:196
- 9. Augustin Y, Staines HM, Krishna S. 2020. Artemisinins as a novel anti-cancer therapy: targeting a global cancer pandemic through drug repurposing. *Pharmacol. Ther*: 216:107706
- 10. Badgley MA, Kremer DM, Maurer HC, DelGiorno KE, Lee HJ, et al. 2020. Cysteine depletion induces pancreatic tumor ferroptosis in mice. *Science* 368:85–89
- 11. Bannai S, Tsukeda H, Okumura H. 1977. Effect of antioxidants on cultured human diploid fibroblasts exposed to cystine-free medium. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 74:1582–88
- 12. Bast A, Brenninkmeijer JW, Savenije-Chapel EM, Noordhoek J. 1983. Cytochrome P450 oxidase activity and its role in NADPH dependent lipid peroxidation. *FEBS Lett.* 151:185–88
- 13. Beatty A, Singh T, Tyurina YY, Tyurin VA, Samovich S, et al. 2021. Ferroptotic cell death triggered by conjugated linolenic acids is mediated by ACSL1. *Nat. Commun.* 12:2244
- Beharier O, Tyurin VA, Goff JP, Guerrero-Santoro J, Kajiwara K, et al. 2020. PLA<sub>2</sub>G6 guards placental trophoblasts against ferroptotic injury. *PNAS* 117:27319–28
- Belaidi AA, Bush AI. 2016. Iron neurochemistry in Alzheimer's disease and Parkinson's disease: targets for therapeutics. J. Neurochem. 139(Suppl. 1):179–97

- Bersuker K, Hendricks JM, Li Z, Magtanong L, Ford B, et al. 2019. The CoQ oxidoreductase FSP1 acts parallel to GPX4 to inhibit ferroptosis. *Nature* 575:688–92
- Bieri JG. 1959. An effect of selenium and cystine on lipide peroxidation in tissues deficient in vitamin E. *Nature* 184(Suppl. 15):1148–49
- Blomme A, Ford CA, Mui E, Patel R, Ntala C, et al. 2020. 2,4-dienoyl-CoA reductase regulates lipid homeostasis in treatment-resistant prostate cancer. *Nat. Commun.* 11:2508
- Boa AN, Canavan SP, Hirst PR, Ramsey C, Stead AM, McConkey GA. 2005. Synthesis of brequinar analogue inhibitors of malaria parasite dihydroorotate dehydrogenase. *Bioorg. Med. Chem.* 13:1945–67
- Bogacz M, Krauth-Siegel RL. 2018. Tryparedoxin peroxidase-deficiency commits trypanosomes to ferroptosis-type cell death. *Elife* 7:e37503
- Bogdan AR, Miyazawa M, Hashimoto K, Tsuji Y. 2016. Regulators of iron homeostasis: new players in metabolism, cell death, and disease. *Trends Biochem. Sci.* 41:274–86
- 22. Bosl MR, Takaku K, Oshima M, Nishimura S, Taketo MM. 1997. Early embryonic lethality caused by targeted disruption of the mouse selenocysteine tRNA gene (*Trsp*). *PNAS* 94:5531–34
- Brielmeier M, Bechet JM, Suppmann S, Conrad M, Laux G, Bornkamm GW. 2001. Cloning of phospholipid hydroperoxide glutathione peroxidase (PHGPx) as an anti-apoptotic and growth promoting gene of Burkitt lymphoma cells. *Biofactors* 14:179–90
- Brown CW, Amante JJ, Chhoy P, Elaimy AL, Liu H, et al. 2019. Prominin2 drives ferroptosis resistance by stimulating iron export. *Dev. Cell* 51:575–86.e4
- Brown CW, Amante JJ, Goel HL, Mercurio AM. 2017. The α6β4 integrin promotes resistance to ferroptosis. *J. Cell Biol.* 216:4287–97
- Brown CW, Chhoy P, Mukhopadhyay D, Karner ER, Mercurio AM. 2021. Targeting prominin2 transcription to overcome ferroptosis resistance in cancer. *EMBO Mol. Med.* 13:e13792
- Conrad M, Kagan VE, Bayir H, Pagnussat GC, Head B, et al. 2018. Regulation of lipid peroxidation and ferroptosis in diverse species. *Genes Dev.* 32(9–10):602–19
- Canli O, Alankus YB, Grootjans S, Vegi N, Hultner L, et al. 2016. Glutathione peroxidase 4 prevents necroptosis in mouse erythroid precursors. *Blood* 127:139–48
- Cao J, Chen X, Jiang L, Lu B, Yuan M, et al. 2020. DJ-1 suppresses ferroptosis through preserving the activity of S-adenosyl homocysteine hydrolase. *Nat. Commun.* 11:1251
- Cao X. 2020. COVID-19: immunopathology and its implications for therapy. Nat. Rev. Immunol. 20:269– 70
- Carlson BA, Tobe R, Yefremova E, Tsuji PA, Hoffmann VJ, et al. 2016. Glutathione peroxidase 4 and vitamin E cooperatively prevent hepatocellular degeneration. *Redox. Biol.* 9:22–31
- Chen D, Chu B, Yang X, Liu Z, Jin Y, et al. 2021. iPLA2β-mediated lipid detoxification controls p53-driven ferroptosis independent of GPX4. *Nat. Commun.* 12:3644
- Chen GQ, Benthani FA, Wu J, Liang D, Bian ZX, Jiang X. 2020. Artemisinin compounds sensitize cancer cells to ferroptosis by regulating iron homeostasis. *Cell Death Differ*. 27:242–54
- Chen L, Hambright WS, Na R, Ran Q. 2015. Ablation of the ferroptosis inhibitor glutathione peroxidase 4 in neurons results in rapid motor neuron degeneration and paralysis. *J. Biol. Chem.* 290:28097–106
- Chen Y, Fan H, Wang S, Tang G, Zhai C, Shen L. 2021. Ferroptosis: a novel therapeutic target for ischemia-reperfusion injury. *Front. Cell Dev. Biol.* 9:688605
- Chorley BN, Campbell MR, Wang X, Karaca M, Sambandan D, et al. 2012. Identification of novel NRF2-regulated genes by ChIP-Seq: influence on retinoid X receptor alpha. *Nucleic. Acids. Res.* 40:7416– 29
- Christidi E, Brunham LR. 2021. Regulated cell death pathways in doxorubicin-induced cardiotoxicity. Cell Death. Dis. 12:339
- Conlon M, Poltorack CD, Forcina GC, Armenta DA, Mallais M, et al. 2021. A compendium of kinetic modulatory profiles identifies ferroptosis regulators. *Nat. Chem. Biol.* 17:665–74
- Imai H, Hakkaku N, Iwamoto R, Suzuki J, Suzuki T, et al. 2009. Depletion of selenoprotein GPx4 in spermatocytes causes male infertility in mice. *J. Biol. Chem.* 284(47):32522–32
- 40. Conrad M, Pratt DA. 2019. The chemical basis of ferroptosis. Nat. Chem. Biol. 15:1137-47
- 41. Deleted in proof

- 42. Conrad M, Proneth B. 2020. Selenium: tracing another essential element of ferroptotic cell death. *Cell Chem. Biol.* 27:409–19
- Cui W, Liu D, Gu W, Chu B. 2021. Peroxisome-driven ether-linked phospholipids biosynthesis is essential for ferroptosis. *Cell Death Differ*: 28:2536–51
- Dangol S, Chen Y, Hwang BK, Jwa NS. 2019. Iron- and reactive oxygen species-dependent ferroptotic cell death in rice-magnaporthe oryzae interactions. Plant Cell 31:189–209
- 45. Dar HH, Anthonymuthu TS, Ponomareva LA, Souryavong AB, Shurin GV, et al. 2021. A new thiolindependent mechanism of epithelial host defense against *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*: iNOS/NO<sup>•</sup> sabotage of theft-ferroptosis. *Redox. Biol.* 45:102045
- Dar HH, Tyurina YY, Mikulska-Ruminska K, Shrivastava I, Ting HC, et al. 2018. Pseudomonas aeruginosa utilizes host polyunsaturated phosphatidylethanolamines to trigger theft-ferroptosis in bronchial epithelium. J. Clin. Investig. 128:4639–53
- de Vries RJ, Tessier SN, Banik PD, Nagpal S, Cronin SEJ, et al. 2019. Supercooling extends preservation time of human livers. *Nat. Biotechnol.* 37:1131–36
- Dierge E, Debock E, Guilbaud C, Corbet C, Mignolet E, et al. 2021. Peroxidation of n-3 and n-6 polyunsaturated fatty acids in the acidic tumor environment leads to ferroptosis-mediated anticancer effects. *Cell Metab.* 33:1701–15.e5
- Ding CC, Rose J, Sun T, Wu J, Chen PH, et al. 2020. MESH1 is a cytosolic NADPH phosphatase that regulates ferroptosis. *Nat. Metab.* 2:270–77
- Distefano AM, Martin MV, Cordoba JP, Bellido AM, D'Ippolito S, et al. 2017. Heat stress induces ferroptosis-like cell death in plants. *J. Cell Biol.* 216:463–76
- Dixon SJ, Lemberg KM, Lamprecht MR, Skouta R, Zaitsev EM, et al. 2012. Ferroptosis: an irondependent form of nonapoptotic cell death. *Cell* 149:1060–72
- Dixon SJ, Winter GE, Musavi LS, Lee ED, Snijder B, et al. 2015. Human haploid cell genetics reveals roles for lipid metabolism genes in nonapoptotic cell death. ACS Chem. Biol. 10:1604–9
- Dodson M, Castro-Portuguez R, Zhang DD. 2019. NRF2 plays a critical role in mitigating lipid peroxidation and ferroptosis. *Redox. Biol.* 23:101107
- Doll S, Freitas FP, Shah R, Aldrovandi M, da Silva MC, et al. 2019. FSP1 is a glutathione-independent ferroptosis suppressor. *Nature* 575:693–98
- Doll S, Proneth B, Tyurina YY, Panzilius E, Kobayashi S, et al. 2017. ACSL4 dictates ferroptosis sensitivity by shaping cellular lipid composition. *Nat. Chem. Biol.* 13:91–98
- Du J, Zhou Y, Li Y, Xia J, Chen Y, et al. 2020. Identification of Frataxin as a regulator of ferroptosis. *Redox. Biol.* 32:101483
- 57. Eagle H. 1955. Nutrition needs of mammalian cells in tissue culture. Science 122:501-14
- Eagle H, Piez KA, Oyama VI. 1961. The biosynthesis of cystine in human cell cultures. *J. Biol. Chem.* 236:1425–28
- Eaton JK, Furst L, Ruberto RA, Moosmayer D, Hilpmann A, et al. 2020. Selective covalent targeting of GPX4 using masked nitrile-oxide electrophiles. *Nat. Chem. Biol.* 16:497–506
- Elguindy MM, Nakamaru-Ogiso E. 2015. Apoptosis-inducing factor (AIF) and its family member protein, AMID, are rotenone-sensitive NADH:ubiquinone oxidoreductases (NDH-2). *J. Biol. Chem.* 290:20815–26
- Evans DR, Guy HI. 2004. Mammalian pyrimidine biosynthesis: fresh insights into an ancient pathway. *J. Biol. Chem.* 279:33035–38
- Fang X, Cai Z, Wang H, Han D, Cheng Q, et al. 2020. Loss of cardiac ferritin H facilitates cardiomyopathy via Slc7a11-mediated ferroptosis. *Circ. Res.* 127:486–501
- Fang X, Wang H, Han D, Xie E, Yang X, et al. 2019. Ferroptosis as a target for protection against cardiomyopathy. *PNAS* 116:2672–80
- 64. Feng H, Schorpp K, Jin J, Yozwiak CE, Hoffstrom BG, et al. 2020. Transferrin receptor is a specific ferroptosis marker. *Cell Rep.* 30:3411–23.e7
- 65. Feng Y, Madungwe NB, Imam Aliagan AD, Tombo N, Bopassa JC. 2019. Liproxstatin-1 protects the mouse myocardium against ischemia/reperfusion injury by decreasing VDAC1 levels and restoring GPX4 levels. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 520:606–11

- Friedmann Angeli JP, Conrad M. 2018. Selenium and GPX4, a vital symbiosis. Free Radic. Biol. Med. 127:153–59
- Friedmann Angeli JP, Florencio Porto F, Palina N, Lohans P, Omkar Z, et al. 2021. 7-Dehydrocholesterol is an endogenous suppressor of ferroptosis. Prepr. Version 1, Research Square. https://doi.org/10.21203/rs.3.rs-943221/v1
- Friedmann Angeli JP, Schneider M, Proneth B, Tyurina YY, Tyurin VA, et al. 2014. Inactivation of the ferroptosis regulator Gpx4 triggers acute renal failure in mice. *Nat. Cell Biol.* 16:1180–91
- Gai C, Yu M, Li Z, Wang Y, Ding D, et al. 2020. Acetaminophen sensitizing erastin-induced ferroptosis via modulation of Nrf2/heme oxygenase-1 signaling pathway in non-small-cell lung cancer. *J. Cell. Physiol.* 235:3329–39
- Galluzzi L, Vitale I, Aaronson SA, Abrams JM, Adam D, et al. 2018. Molecular mechanisms of cell death: recommendations of the Nomenclature Committee on Cell Death 2018. Cell Death Differ. 25:486–541
- Chen Y, Liu Y, Lan T, Qin W, Zhu YT, et al. 2018. Quantitative profiling of protein carbonylations in ferroptosis by an aniline-derived probe. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* 140(13):4712–20
- Gao M, Monian P, Pan Q, Zhang W, Xiang J, Jiang X. 2016. Ferroptosis is an autophagic cell death process. *Cell Res.* 26:1021–32
- Gao M, Monian P, Quadri N, Ramasamy R, Jiang X. 2015. Glutaminolysis and transferrin regulate ferroptosis. *Mol. Cell* 59:298–308
- Gao M, Yi J, Zhu J, Minikes AM, Monian P, et al. 2019. Role of mitochondria in ferroptosis. *Mol. Cell* 73:354–63.e3
- 75. Garcia-Bermudez J, Baudrier L, Bayraktar EC, Shen Y, La K, et al. 2019. Squalene accumulation in cholesterol auxotrophic lymphomas prevents oxidative cell death. *Nature* 567:118–22
- Gaschler MM, Andia AA, Liu H, Csuka JM, Hurlocker B, et al. 2018. FINO2 initiates ferroptosis through GPX4 inactivation and iron oxidation. *Nat. Chem. Biol.* 14:507–15
- Gaschler MM, Hu F, Feng H, Linkermann A, Min W, Stockwell BR. 2018. Determination of the subcellular localization and mechanism of action of ferrostatins in suppressing ferroptosis. ACS Chem. Biol. 13:1013–20
- Geng N, Shi BJ, Li SL, Zhong ZY, Li YC, et al. 2018. Knockdown of ferroportin accelerates erastininduced ferroptosis in neuroblastoma cells. *Eur. Rev. Med. Pharmacol. Sci.* 22:3826–36
- Hall ED. 1992. Novel inhibitors of iron-dependent lipid peroxidation for neurodegenerative disorders. Ann. Neurol. 32(Suppl. S1):37–42
- Hambright WS, Fonseca RS, Chen L, Na R, Ran Q. 2017. Ablation of ferroptosis regulator glutathione peroxidase 4 in forebrain neurons promotes cognitive impairment and neurodegeneration. *Redox. Biol.* 12:8–17
- Hangauer MJ, Viswanathan VS, Ryan MJ, Bole D, Eaton JK, et al. 2017. Drug-tolerant persister cancer cells are vulnerable to GPX4 inhibition. *Nature* 551:247–50
- Hattori K, Ishikawa H, Sakauchi C, Takayanagi S, Naguro I, Ichijo H. 2017. Cold stress-induced ferroptosis involves the ASK1-p38 pathway. *EMBO Rep.* 18:2067–78
- Hayano M, Yang WS, Corn CK, Pagano NC, Stockwell BR. 2016. Loss of cysteinyl-tRNA synthetase (CARS) induces the transsulfuration pathway and inhibits ferroptosis induced by cystine deprivation. *Cell Death Differ*. 23:270–78
- 84. Herraiz T, Galisteo J. 2004. Endogenous and dietary indoles: a class of antioxidants and radical scavengers in the ABTS assay. *Free Radic. Res.* 38:323–31
- 85. Hinman A, Holst CR, Latham JC, Bruegger JJ, Ulas G, et al. 2018. Vitamin E hydroquinone is an endogenous regulator of ferroptosis via redox control of 15-lipoxygenase. *PLOS ONE* 13:e0201369
- Hirschhorn T, Stockwell BR. 2019. The development of the concept of ferroptosis. *Free Radic. Biol. Med.* 133:130–43
- Homma T, Kobayashi S, Conrad M, Konno H, Yokoyama C, Fujii J. 2021. Nitric oxide protects against ferroptosis by aborting the lipid peroxidation chain reaction. *Nitric Oxide* 115:34–43
- Homma T, Kobayashi S, Sato H, Fujii J. 2019. Edaravone, a free radical scavenger, protects against ferroptotic cell death in vitro. *Exp. Cell Res.* 384:111592

- Hou W, Xie Y, Song X, Sun X, Lotze MT, et al. 2016. Autophagy promotes ferroptosis by degradation of ferritin. *Autophagy* 12:1425–28
- 90. Ibar C, Irvine KD. 2020. Integration of Hippo-YAP signaling with metabolism. *Dev. Cell* 54:256-67
- 91. Ide S, Kobayashi Y, Ide K, Strausser SA, Abe K, et al. 2021. Ferroptotic stress promotes the accumulation of pro-inflammatory proximal tubular cells in maladaptive renal repair. *Elife* 10:e68603
- 92. Ingold I, Berndt C, Schmitt S, Doll S, Poschmann G, et al. 2018. Selenium utilization by GPX4 is required to prevent hydroperoxide-induced ferroptosis. *Cell* 172:409–22.e21
- Ingold KU, Pratt DA. 2014. Advances in radical-trapping antioxidant chemistry in the 21st century: a kinetics and mechanisms perspective. *Chem. Rev.* 114:9022–46
- Ishii T, Bannai S, Sugita Y. 1981. Mechanism of growth stimulation of L1210 cells by 2-mercaptoethanol in vitro. Role of the mixed disulfide of 2-mercaptoethanol and cysteine. *J. Biol. Chem.* 256:12387– 92
- Jacobs W, Lammens M, Kerckhofs A, Voets E, Van San E, et al. 2020. Fatal lymphocytic cardiac damage in coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19): Autopsy reveals a ferroptosis signature. ESC Heart Fail. 7:3772–81
- Jakaria M, Belaidi AA, Bush AI, Ayton S. 2021. Ferroptosis as a mechanism of neurodegeneration in Alzheimer's disease. *J. Neurochem.* 159:804–25
- Jiang L, Kon N, Li T, Wang SJ, Su T, et al. 2015. Ferroptosis as a p53-mediated activity during tumour suppression. *Nature* 520:57–62
- Jiang X, Stockwell BR, Conrad M. 2021. Ferroptosis: mechanisms, biology and role in disease. Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol. 22:266–82
- Joyce JA, Fearon DT. 2015. T cell exclusion, immune privilege, and the tumor microenvironment. *Science* 348:74–80
- Kagan VE, Mao G, Qu F, Angeli JP, Doll S, et al. 2017. Oxidized arachidonic and adrenic PEs navigate cells to ferroptosis. *Nat. Chem. Biol.* 13:81–90
- Kahn-Kirby AH, Amagata A, Maeder CI, Mei JJ, Sideris S, et al. 2019. Targeting ferroptosis: a novel therapeutic strategy for the treatment of mitochondrial disease-related epilepsy. PLOS ONE 14:e0214250
- Kapralov AA, Yang Q, Dar HH, Tyurina YY, Anthonymuthu TS, et al. 2020. Redox lipid reprogramming commands susceptibility of macrophages and microglia to ferroptotic death. *Nat. Chem. Biol.* 16:278– 90
- 103. Kathman SG, Boshart J, Jing H, Cravatt BF. 2020. Blockade of the lysophosphatidylserine lipase ABHD12 potentiates ferroptosis in cancer cells. ACS Chem. Biol. 15:871–77
- Kim SE, Zhang L, Ma K, Riegman M, Chen F, et al. 2016. Ultrasmall nanoparticles induce ferroptosis in nutrient-deprived cancer cells and suppress tumour growth. *Nat. Nanotechnol.* 11:977–85
- Kimura Y, Dargusch R, Schubert D, Kimura H. 2006. Hydrogen sulfide protects HT22 neuronal cells from oxidative stress. *Antioxid. Redox. Signal.* 8:661–70
- 106. Kobayashi S, Homma T, Okumura N, Han J, Nagaoka K, et al. 2021. Carnosine dipeptidase II (CNDP2) protects cells under cysteine insufficiency by hydrolyzing glutathione-related peptides. *Free Radic. Biol. Med.* 174:12–27
- Kraft VAN, Bezjian CT, Pfeiffer S, Ringelstetter L, Muller C, et al. 2020. GTP cyclohydrolase 1/tetrahydrobiopterin counteract ferroptosis through lipid remodeling. ACS Cent. Sci. 6:41–53
- Kremer DM, Nelson BS, Lin L, Yarosz EL, Halbrook CJ, et al. 2021. GOT1 inhibition promotes pancreatic cancer cell death by ferroptosis. *Nat. Commun.* 12:4860
- Kryukov GV, Castellano S, Novoselov SV, Lobanov AV, Zehtab O, et al. 2003. Characterization of mammalian selenoproteomes. *Science* 300:1439–43
- Kwon MY, Park E, Lee SJ, Chung SW. 2015. Heme oxygenase-1 accelerates erastin-induced ferroptotic cell death. *Oncotarget* 6:24393–403
- 111. La Rosa P, Petrillo S, Fiorenza MT, Bertini ES, Piemonte F. 2020. Ferroptosis in Friedreich's ataxia: a metal-induced neurodegenerative disease. *Biomolecules* 10:1551

- 112. Lachaier E, Louandre C, Godin C, Saidak Z, Baert M, et al. 2014. Sorafenib induces ferroptosis in human cancer cell lines originating from different solid tumors. *Anticancer Res.* 34:6417–22
- Larraufie MH, Yang WS, Jiang E, Thomas AG, Slusher BS, Stockwell BR. 2015. Incorporation of metabolically stable ketones into a small molecule probe to increase potency and water solubility. *Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett.* 25:4787–92
- Lautenschlager I, Pless-Petig G, Middel P, de Groot H, Rauen U, Stojanovic T. 2018. Cold storage injury to rat small-bowel transplants—beneficial effect of a modified HTK solution. *Transplantation* 102:1666– 73
- Lee H, Zandkarimi F, Zhang Y, Meena JK, Kim J, et al. 2020. Energy-stress-mediated AMPK activation inhibits ferroptosis. *Nat. Cell Biol.* 22:225–34
- Lei G, Zhang Y, Koppula P, Liu X, Zhang J, et al. 2020. The role of ferroptosis in ionizing radiationinduced cell death and tumor suppression. *Cell Res.* 30:146–62
- 117. Lei G, Zhuang L, Gan B. 2021. mTORC1 and ferroptosis: regulatory mechanisms and therapeutic potential. *Bioessays* 43:e2100093
- Li C, Dong X, Du W, Shi X, Chen K, et al. 2020. LKB1-AMPK axis negatively regulates ferroptosis by inhibiting fatty acid synthesis. *Signal Transduct. Target. Ther.* 5:187
- Li W, Feng G, Gauthier JM, Lokshina I, Higashikubo R, et al. 2019. Ferroptotic cell death and TLR4/Trif signaling initiate neutrophil recruitment after heart transplantation. *J. Clin. Investig.* 129:2293–304
- Li X, Duan L, Yuan S, Zhuang X, Qiao T, He J. 2019. Ferroptosis inhibitor alleviates radiation-induced lung fibrosis (RILF) via down-regulation of TGF-β1. *J. Inflamm.* 16:11
- Li Y, Feng D, Wang Z, Zhao Y, Sun R, et al. 2019. Ischemia-induced ACSL4 activation contributes to ferroptosis-mediated tissue injury in intestinal ischemia/reperfusion. *Cell Death Differ*. 26:2284–99
- Li Y, Maher P, Schubert D. 1997. A role for 12-lipoxygenase in nerve cell death caused by glutathione depletion. *Neuron* 19:453–63
- Liang C, Zhang X, Yang M, Dong X. 2019. Recent progress in ferroptosis inducers for cancer therapy. *Adv. Mater.* 31:e1904197
- 124. Linkermann A, Skouta R, Himmerkus N, Mulay SR, Dewitz C, et al. 2014. Synchronized renal tubular cell death involves ferroptosis. *PNAS* 111:16836–41
- 125. Liu X, Olszewski K, Zhang Y, Lim EW, Shi J, et al. 2020. Cystine transporter regulation of pentose phosphate pathway dependency and disulfide stress exposes a targetable metabolic vulnerability in cancer. *Nat. Cell Biol.* 22:476–86
- 126. Liu X, Zhang Y, Zhuang L, Olszewski K, Gan B. 2021. NADPH debt drives redox bankruptcy: SLC7A11/xCT-mediated cystine uptake as a double-edged sword in cellular redox regulation. *Genes Dis.* 8:731–45
- 127. Liu Y, Wang Y, Liu J, Kang R, Tang D. 2021. Interplay between MTOR and GPX4 signaling modulates autophagy-dependent ferroptotic cancer cell death. *Cancer Gene Ther*. 28:55–63
- Lorincz T, Jemnitz K, Kardon T, Mandl J, Szarka A. 2015. Ferroptosis is involved in acetaminophen induced cell death. *Pathol. Oncol. Res.* 21:1115–21
- 129. Lu SC. 2013. Glutathione synthesis. Biochim. Biophys. Acta Gen. Subj. 1830:3143-53
- 130. Ma X, Xiao L, Liu L, Ye L, Su P, et al. 2021. CD36-mediated ferroptosis dampens intratumoral CD8+ T cell effector function and impairs their antitumor ability. *Cell Metab.* 33:1001–12.e5
- MacDonald JI, Sprecher H. 1991. Phospholipid fatty acid remodeling in mammalian cells. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta Lipids Lipid Metab.* 1084:105–21
- Magtanong L, Ko PJ, To M, Cao JY, Forcina GC, et al. 2019. Exogenous monounsaturated fatty acids promote a ferroptosis-resistant cell state. *Cell Chem. Biol.* 26:420–32.e9
- 133. Maiorino M, Conrad M, Ursini F. 2018. GPx4, lipid peroxidation, and cell death: discoveries, rediscoveries, and open issues. *Antioxid. Redox. Signal.* 29:61–74
- 134. Mandal PK, Seiler A, Perisic T, Kolle P, Banjac Canak A, et al. 2010. System x<sub>c</sub><sup>-</sup> and thioredoxin reductase 1 cooperatively rescue glutathione deficiency. *J. Biol. Chem.* 285:22244–53
- Mao C, Liu X, Zhang Y, Lei G, Yan Y, et al. 2021. DHODH-mediated ferroptosis defence is a targetable vulnerability in cancer. *Nature* 593:586–90

- 136. Masaldan S, Bush AI, Devos D, Rolland AS, Moreau C. 2019. Striking while the iron is hot: iron metabolism and ferroptosis in neurodegeneration. *Free Radic. Biol. Med.* 133:221–33
- 137. Matsushita M, Freigang S, Schneider C, Conrad M, Bornkamm GW, Kopf M. 2015. T cell lipid peroxidation induces ferroptosis and prevents immunity to infection. *J. Exp. Med.* 212:555–68
- 138. May JM, Morrow JD, Burk RF. 2002. Thioredoxin reductase reduces lipid hydroperoxides and spares α-tocopherol. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 292:45–49
- 139. Mayr L, Grabherr F, Schwarzler J, Reitmeier I, Sommer F, et al. 2020. Dietary lipids fuel GPX4restricted enteritis resembling Crohn's disease. *Nat. Commun.* 11:1775
- Melo AM, Bandeiras TM, Teixeira M. 2004. New insights into type II NAD(P)H:quinone oxidoreductases. *Microbiol. Mol. Biol. Rev.* 68:603–16
- 141. Mishima E, Fukuda S, Mukawa C, Yuri A, Kanemitsu Y, et al. 2017. Evaluation of the impact of gut microbiota on uremic solute accumulation by a CE-TOFMS-based metabolomics approach. *Kidney Int.* 92:634–45
- 142. Mishima E, Sato E, Ito J, Yamada KI, Suzuki C, et al. 2020. Drugs repurposed as antiferroptosis agents suppress organ damage, including AKI, by functioning as lipid peroxyl radical scavengers. *J. Am. Soc. Nephrol.* 31:280–96
- 143. Mitsuishi Y, Taguchi K, Kawatani Y, Shibata T, Nukiwa T, et al. 2012. Nrf2 redirects glucose and glutamine into anabolic pathways in metabolic reprogramming. *Cancer Cell* 22:66–79
- 144. Moghaddam A, Heller RA, Sun Q, Seelig J, Cherkezov A, et al. 2020. Selenium deficiency is associated with mortality risk from COVID-19. *Nutrients* 12:2098
- 145. Moreno-Garcia A, Kun A, Calero O, Medina M, Calero M. 2018. An overview of the role of lipofuscin in age-related neurodegeneration. *Front. Neurosci.* 12:464
- 146. Mumbauer S, Pascual J, Kolotuev I, Hamaratoglu F. 2019. Ferritin heavy chain protects the developing wing from reactive oxygen species and ferroptosis. *PLOS Genet*. 15:e1008396
- 147. Nakamura T, Ogawa M, Kojima K, Takayanagi S, Ishihara S, et al. 2021. The mitochondrial Ca<sup>2+</sup> uptake regulator, MICU1, is involved in cold stress-induced ferroptosis. *EMBO Rep.* 22:e51532
- Nguyen HP, Yi D, Lin F, Viscarra JA, Tabuchi C, et al. 2020. Aifm2, a NADH oxidase, supports robust glycolysis and is required for cold- and diet-induced thermogenesis. *Mol. Cell* 77:600–17.e4
- 149. Nishizawa H, Matsumoto M, Shindo T, Saigusa D, Kato H, et al. 2020. Ferroptosis is controlled by the coordinated transcriptional regulation of glutathione and labile iron metabolism by the transcription factor BACH1. *J. Biol. Chem.* 295:69–82
- 150. Olm E, Fernandes AP, Hebert C, Rundlof AK, Larsen EH, et al. 2009. Extracellular thiol-assisted selenium uptake dependent on the x<sub>c</sub><sup>-</sup> cystine transporter explains the cancer-specific cytotoxicity of selenite. *PNAS* 106:11400–5
- 151. Ooko E, Saeed ME, Kadioglu O, Sarvi S, Colak M, et al. 2015. Artemisinin derivatives induce irondependent cell death (ferroptosis) in tumor cells. *Phytomedicine* 22:1045–54
- Paton CM, Ntambi JM. 2009. Biochemical and physiological function of stearoyl-CoA desaturase. Am. *J. Physiol. Endocrinol. Metab.* 297:E28–37
- 153. Perez MA, Magtanong L, Dixon SJ, Watts JL. 2020. Dietary lipids induce ferroptosis in *Caenorhabditis* elegans and human cancer cells. *Dev. Cell* 54:447–54.e4
- 154. Porter NA, Caldwell SE, Mills KA. 1995. Mechanisms of free radical oxidation of unsaturated lipids. *Lipids* 30:277–90
- 155. Protchenko O, Baratz E, Jadhav S, Li F, Shakoury-Elizeh M, et al. 2021. Iron chaperone poly rC binding protein 1 protects mouse liver from lipid peroxidation and steatosis. *Hepatology* 73:1176–93
- Qian X, Zhang J, Gu Z, Chen Y. 2019. Nanocatalysts-augmented Fenton chemical reaction for nanocatalytic tumor therapy. *Biomaterials* 211:1–13
- 157. Rahmania H, Kato S, Sawada K, Hayashi C, Hashimoto H, et al. 2020. Revealing the thermal oxidation stability and its mechanism of rice bran oil. *Sci. Rep.* 10:14091
- Ramasamy T, Sundaramoorthy P, Ruttala HB, Choi Y, Shin WH, et al. 2017. Polyunsaturated fatty acidbased targeted nanotherapeutics to enhance the therapeutic efficacy of docetaxel. *Drug Deliv.* 24:1262– 72
- Sato H, Fujiwara K, Sagara J, Bannai S. 1995. Induction of cystine transport activity in mouse peritoneal macrophages by bacterial lipopolysaccharide. *Biochem. J.* 310(Part 2):547–51

- Sato H, Tamba M, Ishii T, Bannai S. 1999. Cloning and expression of a plasma membrane cystine/ glutamate exchange transporter composed of two distinct proteins. *J. Biol. Chem.* 274:11455–58
- 161. Sato M, Kusumi R, Hamashima S, Kobayashi S, Sasaki S, et al. 2018. The ferroptosis inducer erastin irreversibly inhibits system x<sub>c</sub><sup>-</sup> and synergizes with cisplatin to increase cisplatin's cytotoxicity in cancer cells. *Sci. Rep.* 8:968
- 162. Sato M, Onuma K, Domon M, Hasegawa S, Suzuki A, et al. 2020. Loss of the cystine/glutamate antiporter in melanoma abrogates tumor metastasis and markedly increases survival rates of mice. *Int. J. Cancer* 147:3224–35
- 163. Schwarz K, Foltz CM. 1958. Factor 3 activity of selenium compounds. J. Biol. Chem. 233:245-51
- 164. Seiler A, Schneider M, Forster H, Roth S, Wirth EK, et al. 2008. Glutathione peroxidase 4 senses and translates oxidative stress into 12/15-lipoxygenase dependent- and AIF-mediated cell death. *Cell Metab.* 8:237–48
- Shah R, Shchepinov MS, Pratt DA. 2018. Resolving the role of lipoxygenases in the initiation and execution of ferroptosis. ACS Cent. Sci. 4:387–96
- Shang Y, Luo M, Yao F, Wang S, Yuan Z, Yang Y. 2020. Ceruloplasmin suppresses ferroptosis by regulating iron homeostasis in hepatocellular carcinoma cells. *Cell. Signal.* 72:109633
- Sharma S, Leaf DE. 2019. Iron chelation as a potential therapeutic strategy for AKI prevention. *J. Am. Soc. Nepbrol.* 30:2060–71
- Shchepinov MS. 2020. Polyunsaturated fatty acid deuteration against neurodegeneration. Trends Pharmacol. Sci. 41:236–48
- Shen Q, Liang M, Yang F, Deng YZ, Naqvi NI. 2020. Ferroptosis contributes to developmental cell death in rice blast. *New Phytol.* 227:1831–46
- Shimada K, Hayano M, Pagano NC, Stockwell BR. 2016. Cell-line selectivity improves the predictive power of pharmacogenomic analyses and helps identify NADPH as biomarker for ferroptosis sensitivity. *Cell Chem. Biol.* 23:225–35
- Shimada K, Skouta R, Kaplan A, Yang WS, Hayano M, et al. 2016. Global survey of cell death mechanisms reveals metabolic regulation of ferroptosis. *Nat. Chem. Biol.* 12:497–503
- 172. Smith AC, Mears AJ, Bunker R, Ahmed A, MacKenzie M, et al. 2014. Mutations in the enzyme glutathione peroxidase 4 cause Sedaghatian-type spondylometaphyseal dysplasia. *J. Med. Genet.* 51:470– 74
- 173. Song X, Liu J, Kuang F, Chen X, Zeh HJ 3rd, et al. 2021. PDK4 dictates metabolic resistance to ferroptosis by suppressing pyruvate oxidation and fatty acid synthesis. *Cell Rep.* 34:108767
- 174. Song Y, Wang B, Zhu X, Hu J, Sun J, et al. 2021. Human umbilical cord blood-derived MSCs exosome attenuate myocardial injury by inhibiting ferroptosis in acute myocardial infarction mice. *Cell Biol. Toxicol.* 37:51–64
- 175. Sonowal R, Swimm A, Sahoo A, Luo L, Matsunaga Y, et al. 2017. Indoles from commensal bacteria extend healthspan. PNAS 114:E7506–15
- Soula M, Weber RA, Zilka O, Alwaseem H, La K, et al. 2020. Metabolic determinants of cancer cell sensitivity to canonical ferroptosis inducers. *Nat. Chem. Biol.* 16:1351–60
- 177. Southon A, Szostak K, Acevedo KM, Dent KA, Volitakis I, et al. 2020. Cu<sup>II</sup> (atsm) inhibits ferroptosis: implications for treatment of neurodegenerative disease. Br. J. Pharmacol. 177:656–67
- 178. Steinbrenner H, Al-Quraishy S, Dkhil MA, Wunderlich F, Sies H. 2015. Dietary selenium in adjuvant therapy of viral and bacterial infections. *Adv. Nutr.* 6:73–82
- 179. Sun WY, Tyurin VA, Mikulska-Ruminska K, Shrivastava IH, Anthonymuthu TS, et al. 2021. Phospholipase iPLA<sub>2</sub>β averts ferroptosis by eliminating a redox lipid death signal. *Nat. Chem. Biol.* 17:465–76
- Sun X, Ou Z, Chen R, Niu X, Chen D, et al. 2016. Activation of the p62-Keap1-NRF2 pathway protects against ferroptosis in hepatocellular carcinoma cells. *Hepatology* 63:173–84
- Suzuki Y, Nakagawa K, Kato S, Tatewaki N, Mizuochi S, et al. 2015. Metabolism and cytotoxic effects of phosphatidylcholine hydroperoxide in human hepatoma HepG2 cells. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 458:920–27
- Tadokoro T, Ikeda M, Ide T, Deguchi H, Ikeda S, et al. 2020. Mitochondria-dependent ferroptosis plays a pivotal role in doxorubicin cardiotoxicity. *JCI Insight* 5:e132747

- Tan S, Schubert D, Maher P. 2001. Oxytosis: a novel form of programmed cell death. Curr. Top. Med. Chem. 1:497–506
- 184. Tesfay L, Paul BT, Konstorum A, Deng Z, Cox AO, et al. 2019. Stearoyl-CoA desaturase 1 protects ovarian cancer cells from ferroptotic cell death. *Cancer Res.* 79:5355–66
- Thomas JP, Maiorino M, Ursini F, Girotti AW. 1990. Protective action of phospholipid hydroperoxide glutathione peroxidase against membrane-damaging lipid peroxidation. In situ reduction of phospholipid and cholesterol hydroperoxides. *J. Biol. Chem.* 265:454–61
- Tian R, Abarientos A, Hong J, Hashemi SH, Yan R, et al. 2021. Genome-wide CRISPRi/a screens in human neurons link lysosomal failure to ferroptosis. *Nat. Neurosci.* 24:1020–34
- 187. Tonnus W, Meyer C, Steinebach C, Belavgeni A, von Massenhausen A, et al. 2021. Dysfunction of the key ferroptosis-surveilling systems hypersensitizes mice to tubular necrosis during acute kidney injury. *Nat. Commun.* 12:4402
- Tsoi J, Robert L, Paraiso K, Galvan C, Sheu KM, et al. 2018. Multi-stage differentiation defines melanoma subtypes with differential vulnerability to drug-induced iron-dependent oxidative stress. *Cancer Cell* 33:890–904.e5
- 189. Tu Y. 2011. The discovery of artemisinin (qinghaosu) and gifts from Chinese medicine. *Nat. Med.* 17:1217-20
- Tuo QZ, Lei P, Jackman KA, Li XL, Xiong H, et al. 2017. Tau-mediated iron export prevents ferroptotic damage after ischemic stroke. *Mol. Psychiatry* 22:1520–30
- Ubellacker JM, Tasdogan A, Ramesh V, Shen B, Mitchell EC, et al. 2020. Lymph protects metastasizing melanoma cells from ferroptosis. *Nature* 585:113–18
- 192. Ueta T, Inoue T, Furukawa T, Tamaki Y, Nakagawa Y, et al. 2012. Glutathione peroxidase 4 is required for maturation of photoreceptor cells. *J. Biol. Chem.* 287:7675–82
- 193. Ulatowski LM, Manor D. 2015. Vitamin E and neurodegeneration. Neurobiol. Dis. 84:78-83
- 194. Ursini F, Bindoli A. 1987. The role of selenium peroxidases in the protection against oxidative damage of membranes. *Chem. Phys. Lipids.* 44:255–76
- 195. Ursini F, Maiorino M, Gregolin C. 1985. The selenoenzyme phospholipid hydroperoxide glutathione peroxidase. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta Gen. Subj.* 839:62–70
- Viswanathan VS, Ryan MJ, Dhruv HD, Gill S, Eichhoff OM, et al. 2017. Dependency of a therapyresistant state of cancer cells on a lipid peroxidase pathway. *Nature* 547:453–57
- 197. Vriens K, Christen S, Parik S, Broekaert D, Yoshinaga K, et al. 2019. Evidence for an alternative fatty acid desaturation pathway increasing cancer plasticity. *Nature* 566:403–6
- Vuckovic AM, Venerando R, Tibaldi E, Bosello Travain V, Roveri A, et al. 2021. Aerobic pyruvate metabolism sensitizes cells to ferroptosis primed by GSH depletion. *Free Radic. Biol. Med.* 167:45– 53
- Wang H, An P, Xie E, Wu Q, Fang X, et al. 2017. Characterization of ferroptosis in murine models of hemochromatosis. *Hepatology* 66:449–65
- Wang S, Luo J, Zhang Z, Dong D, Shen Y, et al. 2018. Iron and magnetic: new research direction of the ferroptosis-based cancer therapy. *Am. J. Cancer Res.* 8:1933–46
- 201. Wang W, Green M, Choi JE, Gijon M, Kennedy PD, et al. 2019. CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells regulate tumour ferroptosis during cancer immunotherapy. *Nature* 569:270–74
- 202. Wang Y, Hekimi S. 2016. Understanding ubiquinone. Trends Cell Biol. 26:367-78
- 203. Wang Y, Huang J, Sun Y, Stubbs D, He J, et al. 2021. SARS-CoV-2 suppresses mRNA expression of selenoproteins associated with ferroptosis, endoplasmic reticulum stress and DNA synthesis. *Food Chem. Toxicol.* 153:112286
- Wang Y, Yu R, Wu L, Yang G. 2021. Hydrogen sulfide guards myoblasts from ferroptosis by inhibiting ALOX12 acetylation. *Cell. Signal.* 78:109870
- 205. Weiwer M, Bittker JA, Lewis TA, Shimada K, Yang WS, et al. 2012. Development of small-molecule probes that selectively kill cells induced to express mutant RAS. *Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett.* 22:1822– 26
- 206. Wenzel SE, Tyurina YY, Zhao J, St Croix CM, Dar HH, et al. 2017. PEBP1 wardens ferroptosis by enabling lipoxygenase generation of lipid death signals. *Cell* 171:628–41.e26

- 207. Wirth EK, Conrad M, Winterer J, Wozny C, Carlson BA, et al. 2010. Neuronal selenoprotein expression is required for interneuron development and prevents seizures and neurodegeneration. *FASEB 7.* 24:844–52
- Wolfson RL, Sabatini DM. 2017. The dawn of the age of amino acid sensors for the mTORC1 pathway. Cell Metab. 26:301–9
- Wortmann M, Schneider M, Pircher J, Hellfritsch J, Aichler M, et al. 2013. Combined deficiency in glutathione peroxidase 4 and vitamin E causes multiorgan thrombus formation and early death in mice. *Circ. Res.* 113:408–17
- Wu J, Minikes AM, Gao M, Bian H, Li Y, et al. 2019. Intercellular interaction dictates cancer cell ferroptosis via NF2-YAP signalling. *Nature* 572:402–6
- 211. Xie S, Sun W, Zhang C, Dong B, Yang J, et al. 2021. Metabolic control by heat stress determining cell fate to ferroptosis for effective cancer therapy. ACS Nano 15:7179–94
- Xu H, Ye D, Ren M, Zhang H, Bi F. 2021. Ferroptosis in the tumor microenvironment: perspectives for immunotherapy. *Trends Mol. Med.* 27:856–67
- 213. Yamada N, Karasawa T, Wakiya T, Sadatomo A, Ito H, et al. 2020. Iron overload as a risk factor for hepatic ischemia-reperfusion injury in liver transplantation: potential role of ferroptosis. *Am. J. Transplant*. 20:1606–18
- 214. Yan B, Ai Y, Sun Q, Ma Y, Cao Y, et al. 2021. Membrane damage during ferroptosis is caused by oxidation of phospholipids catalyzed by the oxidoreductases POR and CYB5R1. *Mol. Cell* 81:355–69.e10
- Yang M, Lai CL. 2020. SARS-CoV-2 infection: Can ferroptosis be a potential treatment target for multiple organ involvement? *Cell Death Discov.* 6:130
- 216. Yang WH, Ding CC, Sun T, Rupprecht G, Lin CC, et al. 2019. The Hippo pathway effector TAZ regulates ferroptosis in renal cell carcinoma. *Cell Rep.* 28:2501–8.e4
- Yang WS, Kim KJ, Gaschler MM, Patel M, Shchepinov MS, Stockwell BR. 2016. Peroxidation of polyunsaturated fatty acids by lipoxygenases drives ferroptosis. *PNAS* 113:E4966–75
- 218. Yang WS, SriRamaratnam R, Welsch ME, Shimada K, Skouta R, et al. 2014. Regulation of ferroptotic cancer cell death by GPX4. *Cell* 156:317–31
- Yant LJ, Ran Q, Rao L, Van Remmen H, Shibatani T, et al. 2003. The selenoprotein GPX4 is essential for mouse development and protects from radiation and oxidative damage insults. *Free Radic. Biol. Med.* 34:496–502
- 220. Yao F, Cui X, Zhang Y, Bei Z, Wang H, et al. 2021. Iron regulatory protein 1 promotes ferroptosis by sustaining cellular iron homeostasis in melanoma. Oncol. Lett. 22:657
- Yao Y, Chen S, Li H. 2021. An improved system to evaluate superoxide-scavenging effects of bioflavonoids. *ChemistryOpen* 10:503–14
- 222. Yi J, Zhu J, Wu J, Thompson CB, Jiang X. 2020. Oncogenic activation of PI3K-AKT-mTOR signaling suppresses ferroptosis via SREBP-mediated lipogenesis. *PNAS* 117:31189–97
- 223. Zeitler L, Fiore A, Meyer C, Russier M, Zanella G, et al. 2021. Anti-ferroptotic mechanism of IL4i1-mediated amino acid metabolism. *Elife* 10:e64806
- 224. Zhang J, Taylor EW, Bennett K, Saad R, Rayman MP. 2020. Association between regional selenium status and reported outcome of COVID-19 cases in China. *Am. J. Clin. Nutr.* 111:1297–99
- 225. Zhang X, Xing X, Liu H, Feng J, Tian M, et al. 2020. Ionizing radiation induces ferroptosis in granulocyte-macrophage hematopoietic progenitor cells of murine bone marrow. *Int. J. Radiat. Biol.* 96:584–95
- Zhang Y, Swanda RV, Nie L, Liu X, Wang C, et al. 2021. mTORC1 couples cyst(e)ine availability with GPX4 protein synthesis and ferroptosis regulation. *Nat. Commun.* 12:1589
- 227. Zhang Y, Tan H, Daniels JD, Zandkarimi F, Liu H, et al. 2019. Imidazole ketone erastin induces ferroptosis and slows tumor growth in a mouse lymphoma model. *Cell Chem. Biol.* 26:623–33.e9
- 228. Zheng J, Conrad M. 2020. The metabolic underpinnings of ferroptosis. Cell Metab. 32(6):920-37
- Zheng J, Sato M, Mishima E, Sato H, Proneth B, Conrad M. 2021. Sorafenib fails to trigger ferroptosis across a wide range of cancer cell lines. *Cell Death. Dis.* 12:698
- Zilka O, Shah R, Li B, Friedmann Angeli JP, Griesser M, et al. 2017. On the mechanism of cytoprotection by ferrostatin-1 and liproxstatin-1 and the role of lipid peroxidation in ferroptotic cell death. ACS Cent. Sci. 3:232–43

- 231. Zou Y, Henry WS, Ricq EL, Graham ET, Phadnis VV, et al. 2020. Plasticity of ether lipids promotes ferroptosis susceptibility and evasion. *Nature* 585:603–8
- 232. Zou Y, Li H, Graham ET, Deik AA, Eaton JK, et al. 2020. Cytochrome P450 oxidoreductase contributes to phospholipid peroxidation in ferroptosis. *Nat. Chem. Biol.* 16:302–9
- 233. Zou Y, Palte MJ, Deik AA, Li H, Eaton JK, et al. 2019. A GPX4-dependent cancer cell state underlies the clear-cell morphology and confers sensitivity to ferroptosis. *Nat. Commun.* 10:1617